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1. Introduction: from Julius Caesar
to Parker, Pasley and Aspdin®

mankind and its use as a binding agent

for building materials was well known
to al of the ancient civilisations of the world.
It was the Romans, however, who brought this
knowledge to Britain. Examples of their use of
lime mortar can still be found here today, and
they also knew how to make a lime suitable for
water works by mixing certain substances with
the lime.

I IME was one of the first products of

A common component of such “hydraulic”
lime was pozzolana, a volcanic rock containing
silica and aumina (the ingredients of clay),
found originaly in the area of Pozzuoli in
Italy; another suitable material wastrass, also a
volcanic rock, occurring in Southern Germany.
In Britain, however, the Romans used crushed
bricks, tiles and pottery made of clay, and
again, such Roman building work still
survives.

While lime mortar continued to be used by the
Anglo-Saxons and the Normans, hydraulic
lime was not used again after the Romans left
Britain until over a thousand years had passed.
Trass was probably first employed in Britain in
the seventeenth century, having previously
been used in Germany for millstones,
fragments left over being ground and mixed
with lime and sand to line dykes and canalsin
Holland. The first recorded use of pozzolanain
this country was probably in 1756, when John
Smeaton was rebuilding the Eddystone
Lighthouse and decided to lay the courses of
Portland stone in a mixture of pozzolana and
Blue lias lime (see Postscript).

The onset of the Industrial Revolution during
the latter part of the eighteenth century created
an urgent need for roads, canals, and later
railways, and this in turn stimulated the search
for a strong and durable hydraulic cement
which could be produced from local materials.

In addition, the increase in brick building had
led to a demand for a suitable stucco to give it
a stone-like appearance, brick being regarded
by many as a cheap and unsightly substitute
for stone. Many ingredients had been tried,

from ground glass and brown sugar to bone
ash and linseed aqil, but no satisfactory recipe
had been evolved, athough severa “oil
cements’ were patented, two of which patents
were purchased by the famous architect
brothers Robert and James Adam.

It fell to one James Parker of Northfleet,
Kent, to hit upon a formula much superior to
that of any previous material, and one suitable
for both engineering and architectural
purposes, as well as being sufficiently cheap to
make its manufacture a highly profitable
commercia undertaking. In 1796 he patented a
cement the basis of which was septaria or
“cement-stone”, found in many clay and shale
formations in the British Isles including the
London Basin. This was broken into
fragments, burnt in a kiln, then ground into
powder, before being packed immediately into
airtight casks.

These casks usually held three bushels (1Y%
cwt), a ton of cement-stone yielding about 21
bushels of cement. When required for use it
had to be mixed with 30% water. It may be
said that this “Parker's cement”, later renamed
“Roman Cement” by Parker himself,
represents the birth of the British cement
industry; indeed it was tested and approved by
none other than the great civil engineer
Thomas Telford.

In the event even Telford's positive report did
not succeed in convincing an industry wary
after earlier fallures of much-heralded
products, and this may be the reason why
Parker sold his patent to the Wyatt family, who
traded as Parker & Wyatt. When Parker's
patent expired in 1810, Francis & White
became the most prominent manufacturers of
Roman and later artificial cements.

Roman cement continued to be manufactured
until the second half of the nineteenth century,
but by the 1830s, supplies of cement-stone
were becoming more difficult to find. There
thus arose a determination to find a superior
“artificia” cement which would not only be
stronger but aso obviate the need to depend on



From Julius Caesar to Parker, Pasley and Aspdin

cement-stone, so that cement could be made in
areas distant from sources of the stone.

Two men who experimented with both Roman
and artificial cements were Lieut.-Col (later
General Sir Charles) Padey, and the French-
born engineer, Marc Isambard Brunel.

Padsley, director of the establishment for field
instruction a Chatham, wanted improved
material especially for military engineering
purposes. However, his authoritative treatise
entitled “Observations on Limes, Calcareous
Cements, Mortars, Stuccos and Concrete, etc.”,
published in 1838 with a second edition in
1847, attracted much attention throughout the
lime and cement industries.

Brunel, on the other hand, found Roman
cement inadequate for his Thames tunnel
between Rotherhithe and Wapping. Started in
1825 using Roman cement, it flooded, and
required an improved cement (developed by
Francis & White) to enable its final completion
in 1842. It was the world's first tunnel under a
navigable river, and the earliest work in which
cement was used on a comparatively large
scale. The railway later laid through the tunnel

is still is in regular use as part of the London
Underground (Metropolitan Line). At the
Wapping end, the original shaft, complete with
commemorative plague, today forms part of
the Underground station.

On 21 October 1824, Joseph Aspdin of Leeds
was granted a patent for a binding material in
the form of a powder, usually grey in colour,
which he named “Portland” cement, because of
its similarity in appearance to Portland stone, a
limestone from the Isle of Portland. This
forerunner of modern  cements  was
manufactured by burning and finely grinding a
mixture of “argillaceous earth or clay”, and
“limestone such as that generally used for
making and repairing roads.”

Although it was not until the second part of the
century that a “true” Portland cement was
produced, i.e. a product resembling those of
today, the stage was set for the growth of lime
and cement industries wherever suitable clay
and limestone were to be found.




2. 19th century lime and cement works in Stockton,
and elsewherein Warwickshire

HE Warwickshire village of Stockton,

site of Griffin's Works, lies about half

way between Leamington Spa and
Rugby. First mentioned in records dated 1272,
it had remained a tiny farming hamlet until the
discovery of clay and lime in the vicinity 2.
The consequent development of the cement
and lime industries is reflected in the steady
growth in its population in the nineteenth
century, from 274 in 1801 to 682 at the 1881
census.

One early development involved the Parish of
Stockton itself. In 1792, on the Enclosure of
Stockton lands, the church had been awarded a
plot of land in “Long Highlands’, in lieu of
scattered lands it had held previously. This
plot, just a short distance away from what was
to be the first Griffin quarry, was found to
contain “a rock of limestone”. It was sold
mainly to Messrs Tomes & Handley of
Warwick (for £885), the rest (to avalue of £52
10s) becoming the property of the Warwick
and Napton Canal Company. 3

Work began on the Warwick & Napton in
1795. Although it was originally intended to be
alinking canal, with little local trade, Tomes &
Handley obviously had an eye to business
opportunities which it would open up in an age
when heavy haulage by road was difficult or
impossible. John Tomes, a Warwick solicitor,
was chairman of the Canal Company, and
Charles Handley, of Barford near Warwick,
chief engineer.

In August of that same year of 1795, Handley
had suggested varying the line of the Warwick
& Braunston Canal, as it was originally called,
so that it would instead join the Oxford Canal
a Napton-on-the-Hill. He claimed that this
would save £50,000. In fact the final cost was
around £75,000, compared with the original
estimate of £82,444, which makes Handley's
assertion seem a little exaggerated, even taking
into account that such enterprises did, and do,
more often than not make a mockery of
original forecasts. Be that as it may, his plan
was adopted, he was given a reward of 300

guineas, and in the year 1800 the renamed
Warwick and Napton Cana was wholly
opened to traffic .

The “Long Highlands’ rock was quarried until
1820, when it was exhausted and work ceased.
Over haf of the revenue from the sale had by
1807 been spent on repairs to the church, the
rest being invested in land in Napton, the rent
supporting a schoolmaster at Stockton.

Meanwhile, in 1819, a private arm of the canal
was dug by Tomes and Handley from near the
bottom of Stockton Locks, near Long
Itchington village, to limeworks and a quarry.
This is now known as “Kaye's arm”, as the
enterprise later became Kaye's Cement Works.

The principal lime-burners in the area at this
period were Thomas Walker of Newbold near
Rugby, Richard Greaves of Stratford upon
Avon, George Nelson of Warwick and William
Oldham of Southam.

Thomas Walker

The Walker family had been landowners at
Newbold-on-Avon since the 17th century, but
it was probably not until the 1820s or 1830s
that they began quarrying limestone for lime
production. Thomas Walker died in 1856,
having handed over the business to his third
son, George. George Henry Walker was to be
the co-founder of the Rugby Lias Lime &
Cement Co., forerunner of the Rugby Portland
Cement Co.

Richard Greaves

Richard Greaves, born in 1801, was the el dest
son of John Greaves, merchant and carrier of
Stratford on Avon, a proprietor of the Upper
Avon Navigation and a director of the
Stratford & Moreton Railway, a horse-drawn
tramway. Richard inherited his father's
business at Stratford together with estates at
Warwick, Barford, Long Itchington, Southam
and Stockton®. By the 1820s he was quarrying
limestone at Wilmcote and Southam and in
1824 built lime kilns at Wilmcote, and later at
Southam, for making blue lias lime. With the
aid of the canals, his lime was on the London
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market by the 1830s, and in 1840 he
commenced making artificial cement at
Stockton, in partnership with JW.Kirshaw of
Warwick, as Greaves and Kirshaw. By 1858 a
further works was to be opened at Harbury,
and athough no details of the works have
survived - a phrase sadly applicable time and
time again in the case of the early industry in
Warwickshire - they were probably small, with
only three or four kilnsinitialy.

An advertisement in The Builder in 1843 (its
first year of publication) reads:

A depot is opened in London for the sale
of Blue Lias Lime and Cement from Mr
Greaves” celebrated quarries at Southam,
Warwickshire.

In the same journal in 1845, we read:

Stockton Lias Cement

Manufactured on Principles laid down in
Major General Pasley's Essay on Limes
and Cements. It is of a beautiful stone
colour, and of acknowledged superior
quality, free from vegetation, does not
crack and is well adapted for every
description of modelling and casting. It
has been extensively used at the Earl of
Macclesfield's at Ensham Hall by C.Barry
Esq; at Sir F.Shuckburgh's, Shuckburgh
Hall by H.E.Kendall Esq; for works now in
progress at Marbury Hall, Cheshire, and
for mansions erected last summer in the
vicinity of London.

Wilmcote Lias Cement

Of inferior quality to the above from
containing oxide of iron, but is of very
superior quality for Tunnels, Sewers and
Hydraulic purposes. Its use is stipulated
by Mr John Roe, Engineer of Sewers,
London.

Ground Lias Lime

For concrete and every description of
hydraulic work, for which purposes it has
been used at Woolwich and Chatham
dockyards, the London docks, New
Exchange, Hungerford Suspension Bridge,
Westminster Bridge, Grand Junction
Water Works, Holborn Sewers, Regent and
Grand Junction Canals, Wood Paving
Companies, London & Birmingham
Railway Co., for works in the Alster at
Hamburg, the Kiel and Altona Railway,

and Various Sea Walls etc.

At R.Greaves' Works, Stockton near
Southam, Warwickshire, and at No. 2
Wharf, Paddington, London.

In the second (1847) edition of his book
Observations on Limes, Calcareous Cements,
Mortars, Succos and Concrete, etc.”, Padey,
by then Inspector-General of Railways, says
that Greaves was then making “a powerful
water cement” by “mixing a proportion of
indurated clay or shale with the excellent blue
lias lime of the neighbourhood, the former
being broken and ground and the latter burned
and slaked.”

George Nelson

The third principal lime burner in the area,
George Nelson of Warwick, was aso a
customer of Griffin's Works, and as such will
again be referred to later. He was a timber
merchant in earlier life, but in the 1830s he
began the manufacture of gelatine and
isinglass at Emscote and in 1837 founded, in
conjunction with a cousin, the firm of George
Nelson, Dale & Co. In the 1840s George
started to produce lime, which is used in large
guantities in the manufacture of gelatine. He
died in 1850.

William Oldham

He was afarmer of Southam who owned much
land in the area where limestone was to be
found. According to A.J.Francis, he “seems to
have started the production of lime in the
1840s and followed this later with the
manufacture of an artificial cement.” However,
the surname at least crops up earlier than this.
A catalogue of documents in Rugby Cement
archives contains the entry

21st April 1831: Agreement for Lease of Lime
Rock at Long Itchington - J.H.Anthony to
Messrs Oldham & Witheringtons °.

From about 1854, Oldham was in partnership
with Lawrence Mallory Tatham, a London
lime and cement merchant trading with Capt.
Arthur Lister-Kaye, and who acted as agents
for Greaves and Kirshaw.
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White' s Topoagraphical Directory of Warwickshire, 1850
Extracts from the description and directory of Stockton, pp. 701-2.

STOCKTON, a parish and small village, 2 miles 3.E. by E. from Southam, containg
1220 acres of land; and, in 1841, 94 houses, and 452 inhabitants; in 1801, 274; 182],
844; 1831, 350 ; rateable value, £1,947.18s. Thisappears to have been, at the Conquest,
2 member of Long Itchington, and soon afterwards was in the possession of the power-
ful family of Limesie. In the reign of Edward I. it passed, by marriage, to Sir Robert
de Somerville, and, in succession, beceme the property of the various families of Griffiths,
Smith, Purfey, and Clapham, The principal land-owners are Mr. William Bayes, Mr.
John Bayes, Misy Lovell, Rev. C. Pilkington, Mr. John Greaves, Mr. George Nelson,
Mr. Rd. Hawkes, and Mr. Wm, Hodgson, whao is also lord of the manor, [......... ]

(The following comment contains an error; instead of Richard Griffin, it should read William):

The blue lias limestone abounds in this parish, and is considered {io be the best in
England. Thelime works are very extensive, and are the property of Mr. Richard
Greaves, and My, Richard Griffin,

Ohurch Allotment.—Upon the enclosure of the common fields of this parish, in the
year 1792, there was awarded to the churchwardens, in licu of several green slades,
dispersed over the said common fields, a plot of land, lying in Long Highlands, con-
taining 13a.2r.4p. It is not known how the original slades were acquired, but the
rents had always been applied to the repairs of the church. Some time afterwards, it
was discovered this allotment contained 2 rock of limestone, of which, & part was sold
to the Warwick and Napton canal company, for £52. 10s. and the remainder to Messra.
Tomes and Handley, of Warwick, for £885, ; but of this land about nine acres has been
left in so bad a state thatit is let at the yearly rent of 2, 10s. The residue of the
allotment, 4a. 2r, 24p., being required for the purposes of the Warwick and Napton canal
navigation, was conveyed to them in consideration of the annual rent of :£9. 6s., to be
paid to the rector and churchwardens, and their saccessors, Of the money received for
limestone, all but :£440. was immediately laid out in substantially repairing the parish
church., Thissum, afterwards reduced by other repairs, to :£400., wasinvested in 1807,
in the purchase of two closes in the parish of Napton-on-the-Hill, containig together
7a. 2r. 35p., let at the yearly rent of £12. At avestry meeting, held in April, 1807, the

Rev, Charles Crane proposed to convey to trustees a house in Stockton, for the use of a
school, with a plot of ground adjoining the street; and it was also agreed the :£400.
residue of the limestone money, should be appropriated towards supporting a school-
master of the church of England, for teaching the children of the inhabitants of the
parish reading,writing, and arithmetie. The school is kept in thehouse given by thelate
Dr. Crane, and fitted up at the parish expense; and #£12., the above-named rent, is paid
to a schoolmaster, who engages to teach 33 boys and 19 girls, upon the national system.
The present schools were built, boys’, 1844; girls, 1841. Richard Haysman, master;
and Mary Eagles, mistress.

Directory—Johpo Batchelor, beerhouse ; Michael Bishop, foreman lime works; John
Cleaver, shopkeeper; William Cleaver, shopkeeper and coal dlr. ; Rd. Chureh, viet., and
Plamber and glazier, King’s Arms; Wm. Cooper, vict,, Barley Mow; Mary Eagles,
sehoolmistress ; Wm Elkington, shopkeeper 3 Chas. Finch, butcher and carpenter; Mr.
Wi, Finch; Wm. Hands, shoe maker; Rd, Haysman, schoolmaster; Eliz. Horley,
shopkeeper; Rev. Charles Pilkington, B.C. L., Rectory; Wm. Rawbone, shoe maker;
Thos, Sanders, vict. and coal dealer, Blue Lias Inn; John Sharman, tailor; and the
farmers are John Bayes, William Bayes, Joseph Beck, and tailor; William Beck, and
miller; John Cleaver, William Cleaver, William Dalton, Edward Gibbins, Francis Goode,
William Griffin, and lime burner; Ann Hawkes, Wm. Hodgson, the Hill; John Nicks,
and Thomas Sanders, and John Cleaver, carrier to Coventry, on Fridays,

9



3. Founding of Griffin'sLime & Cement Works.
The 1844 sale.

HEN Thomas Griffin of Hill Farm,
Stockton, Warwickshire, died in
1953 at the age of 85, a local

newspaper reported in his obituary that * one of
his uncles started the first lime works in
Stockton over a hundred years ago.” The time
was right, but al the evidence points to
Thomas's grandfather William as the founder
of the works, at a period when, as has been
seen, the local Blue Lias lime was aready
helping to shape the face of Victorian Britain,
and was in fact widely held to be the best in
England.

William Griffin (1791-1861), was a tenant
farmer with some 170 acres of arable land and
pasture at Stockton Fields (renamed Hill Farm
after World War Two). On June 22nd 1841,
William signed a 21 year agreement by which
Capt. Thomas Lamb of Leamington Spa,
owner of the farm, leased him “his Lime
Rock” at Stockton, on land adjoining the
Warwick & Napton Canal, and was guaranteed
a minimum of £100 annualy in royalties,
caculated on 4,000 tons at 6d per ton,

“whether excavated or not” .

That quarrying was already in progress is
indicated by the terms of the agreement,
whereby William paid Capt. Lamb £150 for
“Tools, Waggons &c &c” and “as an
indemnification for expenses incurred in
Excavations’, while the “Railway, Iron Rails,
Buildings &  Fixtures” remained the
landowner's property.

Why did Captain Lamb allow his tenant to take
over the lime business which he had started on
hisland at Stockton? Such an enterprise would
certainly have been profitable, or potentialy
so, to judge by the reputation enjoyed at the
time by Blue Lias limestone. A factor in his
decision may have been his failing health,
which had by all accounts not been of the best
for many years.

A native of Daventry, Thomas Lamb had
joined the Army in 1808 at the age of 19, and
within a year had arrived in India, where he

10

served in the Bengal Native Infantry,
apparently without seeing acting service.
Appointed “Barrack Master” in 1819, he was
on sick leave from 1822 until 1824. He then
continued in the same post until 1832, when he
was again given a sick certificate, being
“furloughed” - allowed permanent leave - until
hefinally retired officially in 1834 8.

Captain Lamb died in Leamington Spa on 15
Sept. 1841, aged 51, within three months of
signing the agreement with William Griffin.
Two and a half years later, the 168 acres of
farm land which William held on lease, plus 17
acres including lime kilns and the quarry, for
which he paid an annua surface rent of £25,
were put up for auction, together with
farmland owned by the late Captain in
Braunston, Northants: the handbill for the
quarry land is reproduced here®.

From the sale handbill for the seventeen acres,
described as Lot 2 (the farm being Lot 1), and
from an accompanying map, printed in
London, we find that at the time of the auction,
the area excavated covered about two acres,
through which ran a tram road down to three
lime kilns by the Warwick and Napton Canal.
There was “a small building used as a
storehouse, standing near the works.”

It is perhaps a measure of the potential of Blue
Lias Limestone that the sale was advertised in
The Times, giving notice that the auction was
to be held on Tuesday 14 May 1844, at The
Mart, London '°. The notice states that
particulars were to be available a month before
the sale from auctioneer G.R. Dodd of Royal
Exchange, London; Daventry solicitors Wardle
& Wilson; and “chief inns in neighbouring
towns.”




Founding of Griffin’s Lime Works

Statement of intent, preliminary to the formal contract, whereby Capt.
Thomas Lamb of Leamington Spa (Bengal Army, Retd.) agreesto lease his
Lime Rock at [Long Highlands] Stockton to William Griffin for 21 years

/ae'ww7 74% %%MM@
/;W/ Covicdctionsy coveton tofbvel Sotois >
el L, e, Foedl
M«Wﬁé%‘ﬁ//%/za)/m
vt Gt Fhffoe /wwzé Lale Tein ey
| W/”WM%M Cre e ((/(LW
'—/MM/@@W“%%O%@%
%{@/ W/ﬂ@b £ee @e,/éw
Coteiald Coertcescells Aliponoti, Fe  ZCce 44 e
e e / /4/74 //M@/

é{ﬂzﬁ%z{// /{"/ e (,/ Z%AA/_/ @ %
é{ﬂﬂd,aéé; 5
/Ze 2 & Cree Xy £ m o MCZ

Lon L &‘Z/Saé&/ /(a}?%@aé%‘

%%‘/v é(c_, /(ce /Z(,((¢¢Qggj///// /4‘(4“/6? /_7&
Vo (a3 /Z (/A"(C’-(& 2 AZcec. /g ﬁ’//{(/a% % /
/11 é"(zﬁzLQL/&‘b Cwﬂgccée/ 4(4540‘%69/ Cte f,@flca@

/Ng lea tey Ke Ke /@c%/ Z’ac %
%mz, %;ﬂu/ ~ wej _/ Mu/%
Ww K Q’Cbé/&'b{/@/ézé Botle - g

/b,,/zf %%/”/&%ﬁ/

11



Founding of Griffin's Lime & Cement Works. The 1844 sale.
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Founding of Griffin's Lime & Cement Works. The 1844 sale.

|| The Times, Saturday May 4th 1844 (Supplement, P.11, rt hand column)

Warkwickshire —~Valuable Limestone Quarry and Kilns, with Land ex- l
tending to 17 acres, the whole of which 13 freehold and tithe-free, {
situate close to the Warwick and Naptox Canal, jn the purish of
Stocxton, two miles from the town of Southam.

R. DODD has received instructions from the

Trustess wunder the Will of the late C&Etain Thomas Lsmb, with
the conmcurrence of the Mortgagees, o SELL by public COMPE.
TITION, at the Mart, London, on Tuesday, May 14, at 12,8 PLOT of
very supenior FREEHOLD ARABLE LAND (axonerated from tithes),
extending to 17 acres, in which is a Quarry of the celebrated and un-
equalled Blue Liss Limestone, communieaiing (by mewns of a tram-
road) with kilns situate on the banks of the Warwick and Napten Canal.
The quarry is vnder leasa to Mr. William Griffin, &t a yearly rent or
royalty for the removal of 4,000 tons of the stone annually, with power
for the tenant toextend tho same yearly on reyalfy rents to the amount
of 12,000 fons. The blue lias lime is admirably adapted for concrets
walarworks, and the fonndations of all buildings which are likely to be
damp. Its cxtensive use in the Eddystone Lighthouss, Ramsgate and
Dovar piers, the London and St. Katharine's Docks, and thenew Houses
of Parliament, proves its excellenca by the firmnees of those stupendons
works, aa the Jias will become a8 hard as stone itself when under water.
The blue lias cement, which is prepared entirely from the blue liss stone,
is mora durable than the Roman cement, chesgr from it3 taking double
the quantity of sand, and does not require to be ooloured. It has been
internally used in the new Pox-office and British Museum, &c. ; and {
extarnally on the fronts of the magnificent buildings in Belgrave-squars,
Hyde-park-gardens, Norland-crescent, Bayswater-buildings, the Athe.
nweum Club-house, &c¢. It has, when thoroughly drs, the colour and
firmness of Portland stene; and, if required, forms t superior surface ¢
for ofl painting. The high road from Bug‘g.to Southam, and the War-
wick and Napton Canal, ars boundaries to this property ; and the latter
forms a junction with the Oxford Canal & few miles from the worke,
Btogkton is situats mine miles from the fowna of Davent:y, two miles
from Southam, eight miles from-Rugby, and ten miles froiz Warwick.
To persons of moderats capital this property offers a most eligible op-
poriunity for investment, and not being of & speculative character, o
considerable, safe, and increasing income mey be calculated upon for
many years. Plans and particulars are preparing, and may be obtained,
one month prior to tho sale, of Messrs. Wardle and Wilson, solicitors,
Davertry ; of G, R, Dodd, Esq.. 33, New Broad-strest, London ; at the
George Hotel, Northampton; Craven Arms, Sontham : Warwick Arms,
Warwick ; S8pread Eagle, Rugby ; Dun Oow, Dunchurch; Bath Hotel. |
Leamington ; at the chief inns in other neighbourini towns; and at

Ee,

%Ir. Do;lfl'a offices, 4, Austiefriars, Royal Exchan ondon, and at
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Founding of Griffin's Lime & Cement Works. The 1844 sale.

LOT 2.
FERTILE

A PLOT

"reciho

OF

Containing 17Aa. ER. 2P.

IN WHICH Is A

QUARRY

OF THE

CELERBRATED BLUL LIAS &EL\IEST@NE

TOGETHER WITH

THREE LIME KIL\T S,

Situate on the banks of tkhe

Warwick and Aapton Canal, and com? ..z.mzcatmg

with tke Quarry by means of a tram road,
ALSO A SMALL '

BUILDII\G USED AS A STOR HOUSE

STANDING \E AR, THE WORI\S

The surface of this. Figld where the soil has oot been removed, and which now comprises ahout Fifteen Acres

is included in the Lease with Lot 1, and the apportioned rental on this lot sLaIl be considered as £25 per unn.

‘ The ‘Quarry is also let on lease,; (the comterpart of which may be mspected at the office of Messrs.
Wardle and.Wilson, Solicitors, Daventry, ten days prior and at the time of sale) to Mr. William Griffin,
eightéen years of which will remain unexpired on the 1st of June next, at a yearly rent or royalty of sixpence
per ton for the removal of 4000 tons of the Stone (whether such quantity chall be gotten and sold yearly or
not), with power {or the tenant to extend the same yearly on royalty rents to the amount of 11,999 tons.

- The whole Estate is sub_}ect to a Land Tax of £9.11s.—£1. of which sha}l be considered as apportioned
.upon this Lot.

Blue Lias Limestone is d.n;rably auapted for concrete” water worLs, and the foundations of all
Buildings which are likely to be damp. Its extensive use in the Eddystone Lighthouse, Ramsgate and Dover
Piers, the London and St Ka‘herme Docks, and the New I{OLSE: of T arha*nent, p*ove its excellence by the
firmoess of Lhose stupendous works.

Blue Lizs Cement is pre"'\"cd entirely from Blue ans L'mes!one, and has been internally used in- the-
New Post Omce, British Museuni, Atheneum Club House, and externally in the fronts of the magnificent
Buildings in Belgrave Square, Hyde Park Gardens, Norland Crescent, Bayswater Bmldxnn‘s, .&c. where 1ts
superior appearance is evident:

The High Read from Rugby te Southam, and the Warwick and Napnon Canal are boundanes to this
rty, and Lhe latter formsa junction with the Oxford Canal, a few miles from the works.

It may be here remarked, (hat should the preseat tenant be induced to sarrender his Leass to the: purchaser;
a much more extensive trade might be carried on, and the.consequent advantage would be very cousiderable,

proper

Notice of Sale of Griffin's Lime Works Quarry on May 14, 1844

In contrast to the minimum 4,000 tons
mentioned in the 1841 agreement, there was by
now, as can be seen, a maximum amount of
11,999 tons which could be excavated in any
one year. the actual output at the time is
however unknown.

Information on the result of the sale has not
cometo light, and no mention has been found
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in local newspapers during the period before
and after the sale date. However, at least by
1850, William Griffin was in possession of the
land containing the kilns and quarry, while the
“farm land” passed into the Nelson family.

The quarrying potential of part of this land is
not referred to in sale notices, but became clear
as (Charles) Nelson ‘s Cement Works grew.
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15

Acreages
marked on
map: -

15a 0r 27p
Quarry
2a0r15p

From the
Stockton
Parish
Collection
C.R.O.
Warwick
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4. William Griffin purchases the Quarry.
Products. Production and Turnover 1849-54

HITE'S directory for 1850 states
that “the lime works [in Stockton]
are very extensive, and are the
property of Mr Richard Greaves, and Mr
Richard Griffin.” This photograph of 1980,
taken from the western bank of the Grand
Union Cana (formerly the Warwick and
Napton), shows remains of Greavess Works

kilns, or those of the later partnership of
Greaves, Bull and Lakin, situated at Stockton
Locks, about a quarter of a mile from the
former site of those belonging to Griffin's
Lime Works.

As far as “Richard” Griffin goes, there is in
fact no known member of William's family at
the time bearing that name. In the Farmers' list

appears “William Griffin, and lime burner”; it
seems clear that the name Richard is merely
one of the not infrequent errors of this nature
found in such directories.

In June 1850, George King of Southam,
auctioneer, appraiser and surveyor, “received
of Mr William Griffin the Sum of Forty pounds
as Compensation for Time & Expences in
getting up a Company to purchase the Blue
Lias Rocks & Land at Stockton as agreed
upon”. Thus William apparently did not
become the owner of the Works until several
years after the 1844 sale: maybe he had come
to some agreement with the executors of Capt.
Lamb's will, alowing the previous leasing
arrangement to continue until he raised enough
capital to buy *

Just what legal status the new company had is
unclear. The concept of registered companies
was just being incorporated into legislation,
but very few companies were in fact registered
in the first years. No mention of the company
was found at Companies House in London;
only a sample of the dossiers on early
companies has been kept, the rest being
destroyed when a company ceased trading.
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Products. Production and turnover 1849 - 1854

Products of the Blue Lias

The Jurassic Lias formation is found at the
surface or just below the soil in Warwickshire,
Staffordshire and Northamptonshire. The name
Lias is probably derived from the word
"layers’, which in the local accent would be
pronounced very much like “liars’ but was
probably written down without the “r” to
prevent any suggestion of untruths!

It is thus very descriptive of the layered
formation of dark blue or grey claystone and
light blue or grey limestone, created
approximately 170 to 150 million years ago in
the Jurassic seas. At this period, the land was
covered in lush vegetation where dinosaurs
roamed, while the familiar ammonite
abounded in seas rich with fish and squid, on
which thrived sea-going dinosaurs such as
icthyosaurs and long-necked plesiosaurs.

An ammonite as it would have looked
when swimming in the Jurassic Sea.

When all this marine life died, the calcareous
skeletons and shells were deposited on the
floor of these warm, tropical seas, and millions
of years of build-up of the fragments resulted
in the eventual formation of limestone.

Sea levels fluctuated over the huge time span
of the Jurassic era, when relatively shallow
waters deepened considerably for a few
hundred thousand years due to the shifting of
the continents. During periods of deeper, stiller
water, fine particles of rock eroded from the
continents would be deposited. This sediment
formed the basis of claystone.
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The Blue Lias limestone and claystone were
the raw materials of William Griffin's Blue
Lias lime and cement works at Stockton. The
Blue Lias which made Stockton and other
sources important in the Industrial Revolution
occurs in beds of limestone separated by seams
of yellowish clay.

An 1893 manual on lime and cement’”  states
that “an excellent cementing material is
procured from these lias beds, [although] it
must always be borne in mind that
permanence in the proportions of the
ingredients of a natural limestone is not to
be expected; not only do the different
seams of stone vary widely in the
character of their composition, but also
there is no certainty of permanent
composition in any seam.

The beds of limestone are thin, and
commonly much fissured, and the natural
surface of the stone is brownish yellow in
colour, owing to the action of moisture.
The interior of a block is generally bright
blue on a fresh fracture (due to iron
protoxide), hence it is commonly styled
“blue lias limestone.”

The stone is calcined in open topped cup-
shaped kilns, the fuel is interstratified
with the limestone, about 6 to 7 tons of
coal are burnt to produce 25 tons of lime.
The calcined stone must be thoroughly
ground to a fine powder, then spread in a
layer of about 12 inches thick on the floor
of a dry weatherproof shed, and exposed
to the air for two or three weeks before it
is used in building. A good plan is to fit up
the aeration shed with shelves, or trays,
on which the lime can be placed.

Lias lime can be slaked in the ordinary
manner, but ample time must be given
not less than three days, and the slaked
lime must be sifted through a fine-meshed
sieve, to reject all coarse, imperfectly
slaked particles. If used when freshly
ground, it is liable to expand when
hardening in the mortar joints, and cause



Products. Production and turnover 1849 - 1854

rupture in the masonry. The expansion is
due to the delayed slaking of impure
caustic lime.

An excellent “Portland” cement is [....]
made from the lias limestones, and the
clay of the beds separating the seams of
stone. If due care be taken to mix the lime
and clay in correct proportions, according
to their respective analyses, the cement
will be good; but the variableness of
composition of each ingredient renders
the manufacture more difficult than with
pure chalk and clay.

Limestone is the commonest raw material used
to produce lime. Today, the excavation of rock
for lime production, normally undertaken in a
quarry, involves the use of explosives or
mechanical rock breaking hammers. In the
nineteenth century, however, and still for very
small-scale lime production in the third world,
excavation was and is by hand pick and shovel.

William Griffin sold a lot of his limestone
straight from the quarry. He thus lost the
chance of adding value to a large part of his
production, athough especialy in the early
days, if he encountered technical difficultiesin
lime-burning or in making cement , then the
unprocessed stone may not have been the least
profitable product in the short term.

To produce lime, in most lime kilns the stone
was broken down to a standard size, typically
pieces between four and six inches across.
Traditionally, wood was often used in kilns,
but the Griffins appear to have burnt North
Warwickshire coal. By heating any material
containing calcium carbonate to an optimum
temperature of around 1,000°C (1,800°F) for
several hours (a process known as “calcining”
or simply “burning”) carbon dioxide is driven
off leaving cacium oxide, as lumps of
quicklime.

This may be sold as “lump lime” (today, the
standard lump size is up to eight inches in
diameter), or “ground lime" (the modern
standard grade being ¥4’ or smaller). When the
user adds water to slake the Blue Lias
quicklime, it quickly hardens, even if
completely submerged.
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The 1893 manual on lime and cement tells us
that “the approximate weight of ground
blue lias quicklime is 49 to 70 lbs. per
cubic. foot, though the values vary with
the quality, condition, and age, of the
lime. [...] Lias lime is sold by weight and
by measure, in the lump, and in the
ground state, in 2-bushel, and in 3-bushel
bags.

There are about 1% cubic feet in a bushel,
which in turn is the equivalent of about
eight “dry gallons” of non-liquid material.
Of ground Lias lime, one ton makes ten 3-
bushel bags (at the rate of 58 % lbs.
weight per cubic foot) ; of Portland
cement, of ordinary quality, about 20
bushels make a ton weight.”

The following extracts from a survey of the
quarry™®, apparently a cross-section, show the
variety in the seams. If “plums” and “calf turd”
could be taken at face value, “bastard” and
“sawers’ are more mysterious.
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Production and Turnover

Thanks to an extant sales ledger for 1849 to
1854, we have information on the scale of
business carried on a the time .
Unfortunately, the accounts book only records
sdes and income - there are no details of
expenditure apart from a few rare mentions of
payments to boatmen or of cana dues.
However, itisclear fromthe occasional, but

considerable variations in amounts charged
that transport was sometimes included in the
price per ton or per quarter quoted.

The tables below show weights and values of
material sold during this period. “Lime” entries
were probably for burnt lump lime, as where
ground lime was supplied this was specified.

Griffin’sLime & Cement Works Sales 1849-54

WEIGHTS intons (2,240 Ibs. or 1,000 kg) & hundredweights (20 cwt=1 ton).

Y ear LL.Jmp Limestone | Cement Gr_ound T(_)tal Y ear
Lime lime Weights
1849 1,192 17 1,896 00 0 0] 3,088.17| 1849
1850 1,494 09 1,679 00 0 0] 3,173.09] 1850
1851 862 10 1,816 15 0 0300 268205 1851
1852 432 17 1,75705| 34803 0211 2540.16| 1852
1853 549 07 2,28410| 20412 0] 3,038.09] 1853
1854 797 05 162100, 68204 0] 3,100.09| 1854
1849-54 532906 11,05410 1,23419 05.11 17,624.06 1849-54
VALUES in pounds, shillings and pence (£sd). £1=20s, 1s=12d
Y ear =g ice Cement Gr-ound Total Values | Year
Lime stone lime

1849 | 778128%| 1911203 0 0 97004 11| 1849

1850 812126 | 1680400 0 0 98016 06| 1850

1851 399083 |1861601 0 4100 59014 04| 1851

1852 224105 |1781304%| 420150 | 3166 827 1503| 1852

1853 292000 | 2261307 241089 0 76002 04| 1853

1854 4289 10%2| 1770400 | 862056 0 1,4671904| 1854
1849-54 2935139 1,129034 152493 8066 £55971110 1849-54

There is some evidence to suggest that the
1854 accounts may not be entirely complete,
sales to and payments by some customers for
the latter part of the year probably being
entered in the next ledger. Actual totals for the
year in question could therefore have been
dlightly higher.

Lime sold mostly at between 2s and 2s 3d a
quarter (4 cwt) (10s to 11s 3d a ton), this
increasing to 18s 6d per ton for London
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customers where canal and Thames river
transport costs were included.

Limestone could be had at between 1s 9d and
2s 3d per ton, while the price for ground lime
was 9d abushel (56 1bs.) or £1 10s per ton

Cement from Griffin's Works was sold to
London at between £1 3s9d and £1 6s per ton,
while a small amount was disposed of locally
at aprice of sixteen shillings.
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This business card"® may have been printed
in the early days of the company, since just
as in the first draft advertisements or letters
of introduction written by founder William
Griffin (reproduced in the chapter on The
Role of the Canals), no mention is made of
cement as a product to be offered for sale.

GEREIFFIIN'S

BLUE LIAS LIME WORKS,

STOCKTON, NEAR RUGBY,

WARWICKSHIRE.

LUMP LIME, rer Tox,
GROUND LIME, rer Tox.
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1849 limestone sales for cash on the opening page of the sales ledger




5. Markets and Customers 1849-54

HE vast majority of the customers

served by Griffin's Lime & Cement

Works during the period covered by
the extant ledger came from within the home
county of Warwickshire, and those that did not
were served viathe network of canals of which
the Warwick and Napton was a part.

The total number of customers on the books
was about 200, although the exact number is
not ascertainable, due to uncertain spelling and
the possibility of changed addresses. After
excluding those of doubtful or unknown origin,
we have alist of 152 from Warwickshire, nine
from London or Middlesex, six from
neighbouring Northamptonshire, and one each
from Leicestershire and nearby Oxfordshire.

(a) Limestone

As far as limestone sales are concerned, after
again excluding several doubtful entries, under
2% of the tonnage went outside the county
boundary, to a mere two customers, compared
with over thirty within the county who bought
stone during the six years under consideration.

Of over forty customers with accounts for
stone, just four, al in north Warwickshire,
took over 60% of the total sold.

The largest of these purchased 22% of the
limestone sold. He was Mr George Roberts, of
New Inn Wharf, New Inn Bridge, Little Heath,
Foleshill, near Coventry. The following
description is an edited abstract from an article
in the Coventry Canal Society magazine *°:

Bridge 8 on the Coventry Canal is New Inn
Bridge: the Longford Road bridge. In road
terms it is the one next to Windmill Lane, in
canal terms, between the ex-Courtaulds Little
Heath works and the former gas works site.

There was once a wharf here; from 1845 to
1854 the wharfinger was one George Roberts,
a Gloucestershire man from the Forest of
Dean. In the 1845 directory he is stated to deal
in lime, coal, slates, tiles and bricks. In 1850,
cement, white stone gate posts &c. are also
mentioned, while the tiles are Staffordshire
blues and also blue and red quarries. Some of
the coal, tiles and bricks had probably travelled
no further than from Hawkesbury, Exhall or
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Bedworth, but the lime, cement and slates
must have come from further afield. In the
1851 census, the Roberts family (George had
five children) is the third recorded, south from
the bridge, on the east side of the road,
immediately after widow Mary Ann Chaplin,
who kept the butcher’'s shop and, until 1850,
the New Inn as well.

The Coventry to Nuneaton railway line opened
in September 1850, and this must have had an
effect on George’s business, although the
nearest public goods sidings were in Lockhurst
Lane (Holbrooks) and Blackhorse Lane (Exhall
parish). In any event, he had given up and
gone back to Drybrook, Gloucestershire (East
Dean parish) by the time of the 1861 census.

His successor (from 1855) was sometime
builder Abraham Goode, who was listed
variously as a lime merchant and a limeburner.

It is known that Goode often purchased coal
from Wyken Colliery, but unfortunately we do
not know if he used any Griffin’s Works lime.

The other three of those large customers were;

(16%) Mrs Betsey Ball, of Catherine de Barnes
Heath, Solihull, “lime burner, coa dealer &
farmer”;

(13%) Mr William Thomas, of Mount
Pleasant, Bedworth, “coa & ironstone master,
lime burner and farmer”; and

(10%) Mr William Roadknight, of Coleshill
St., and the gas company's wharf, Atherstone,
“codl, lime & salt merchant, and wharfinger.”

Mrs Bal would have been served by the
Warwick and Birmingham Canal, the other
places lying along the route of the Coventry
Canal.

(b) Lime

With regard to lime, the situation is somewhat
different. Over 130 Warwickshire customers
were recorded compared to just eight from the
London market, yet the latter bought 48% of
the total sold - over 2,500 tons - in-county
sales barely topping the 2,000-ton mark.
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Principal customers were:

(24%; with purchases in 1850 & 1851 only)
Mr William Lee & Son, 16 Upper Ground St,
Blackfriars, London, lime merchants & cement
makers;

(15%) Messrs Pearce & Smith, of London;
(8%) The Oxford Canal Company;

(6%) Mr Charles Richardson, 6 South Wharf,
Paddington, London;

and three Warwickshire customers:

(4%) Mr Thomas Kelcey, of Dunchurch,
carpenter and builder;

(4%) Earl Spencer, of Wormleighton, farmer
and landowner; and

(3%) George Nelson, of Emscote Mills,
Emscote, Warwick; Saw Mills Wharf,
Warwick; and 23, Warwick St., Leamington
Priors (now Leamington Spa), timber merchant
& patent gelatine manufacturer.

The overall picture, then, is of alarge majority
of small customers and a very few important
ones, the former including many local farmers
as well as some small businesses in the
building trade, while the latter were mainly
merchants and industrial users.

Occupations of identified customers

The following is a list of the occupations of
some 70% of the customers, as identified in
contemporary directories.

Purchasers of lime: 59 farmers, 13 builders
and/or carpenters, 9 landowners, 5 graziers, 3
bricklayers, 3 parish officers (Churchwardens
& Surveyors), 2 Roman cement
manufacturers, 2 lime merchants, 2 cana
companies, 2 tailors, 2 stone masons, 1
gelatine manufacturer, 1 railway contractor, 1
brick maker, 1 stone merchant, 1 timber
merchant, 1 plumber & glazier, 1 butcher, 1
miller, 1 hatter, 1 shoemaker.

Purchasers of limestone:

6 farmers, 6 brickmakers, 3 lime burners, 3
lime merchants, 2 landowners, 1 gelatine
manufacturer, 1 coal master, 1 coa & iron
stone master, 1 wharfinger, 1 bricklayer, 1
stonemason, 1 grazier, 1 parish officer.

The following tables show the spread of sales
in terms of weights of lime and of stone. The
tonnages given are Six-year aggregates
calculated on total purchases as recorded
between 1849 and 1854.

Sl NUTIOT Known occupations
Tonnage customers
0-1 37 Mostly unidentifiable cash salesin 1849
20 39 farmers, 4 graziers, 3 builders, 3 carpenter and builders, 3 land-
1-10 (66 known |owners, 3 parish officers, 2 stone masons, 2 tailors, 1 brick-layer, 1
occupations) |brickmaker, 1 hatter, 1 miller, 1 plumber and glazier, 1 shoemaker.
11-20 14 8 farmers, 2 landowners, 2 builders, 1 grazier, 1 timber merchant.
21-50 |18 (14 known) 7 farmers, 2 builders, 2 landowners, 1 bricklayer, 1 canal company, 1
Roman cement manufacturer.
5 farmers, 1 bricklayer, 1 carpenter, 1 carpenter and builder, 1 lime
51-100 |13 (12 known) merchant, 1 railway contractor, 1 Roman cement mfctr, 1 stone mason.
101-200 4 2 landowners, 1 gelatine manufacturer, 1 carpenter and builder.
201-500 2 1 canal company, 1 Londoner (probably lime or cement company).
501-1,000 1 A London customer (probably alime or cement company).
1,258 tons 1 A cement manufacturer and lime merchant.
HITEETS N2 Known occupations
Tonnage customers
1-30 18 (9 known) |4 farmers, 2 landowners, 1 lime burner, 1 parish officer, 1 stone mason.
31-100 15 (9 known) |4 brickmakers (2 also tilemakers, 1 builder, 1 lime merchant), 2 farmers,
1 bricklayer, 1 lime dealer, 1 wharfinger.
101-300 | 4 (2 known) |1 brickmaker and builder, 1 coal master.
301-600 | 4 (3 known) |1 brick and tile maker, 1 gelatine manufacturer, 1 grazier & coal dealer.
1,000-2,000 3 2 lime burners (1 also a coal master), 1 lime merchant.
2,477 tons 1 A wharfinger, dealing in coal, lime, whiting, tiles and bricks.
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Markets and Customers 1849-54

So larger customers generally bought Griffin's
Blue Lias lime and stone for industrial use, and
the smaller ones for agricultural purposes,
including neighbours who just wanted a
sackful, no doubt to spread on their vegetable
patches. Earl Spencer of Wormleighton tops
the farmers list, and his account shows that
lime went to his farms at Prior's Marston
(Russell and Wilson) and Lower Boddington
(Cowper), and to the Wormleighton estate
itself (Thomas Fabling, Manor House).
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To return to the Nelson family, who bought the
late Captain Lamb's land which William
Griffin farmed at Stockton: in White's 1850
Topographical Directory of Warwickshire,
George Nelson is listed among the principal
landowners in Stockton. As has been stated, he
had started a lime works before his death in
1850, in connection with his gelatine business
a Emscote (or “Edmonscote’), Warwick.

This envelope, franked Edmonscote (Emscote), undated; Warwick, Aug 2 1849, Leamington Spa, August 2 and
Southam, Aug. 2, probably contained a letter, now lost, from George Nelson (right) to his tenant William Griffin.

In the surviving ledger for the period from
1849 to 1854 George's account has entries for
the years 1849 to 1851. In 1851 it shows
purchases of 124 tons of lime, around 15% of
the total sold in the year, and 316 tons of
limestone, representing about 17% of recorded
sales of stone for the year.

Thanksto a loose chit slipped into the ledger at
the page recording transactions with George
Nelson, and later with his executors, we see
that the £93 14s 7d from sales of lime and
limestone between August and December 1851
paid well over 50% of the haf-yearly bill,
mainly for rent, owed by William Griffin as
tenant at Stockton Fields. The rent apparently
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stood at £143 18s, compared to £152 10s at the
1844 sdle.

From 1852 until the ledger accounts end in
1854, the Nelson account is in the name of
George's widow Sarah. No more lime is
bought, while stone purchases, after a gap in
1852, were around 11% of the total for 1853,
and 20% (326 tons) the next year.

Sarah aso figures as one of only two
customers who bought cement during the six
years covered by the ledger, although the
amount is small - the 1854 purchase of 26 tons
represents one boatload - and may have been a
sample, or possibly for resale.
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It was to be the eldest of George and Sarah's
five sons, Charles, who later founded Nelson's
Cement Works in Stockton, producing the
famous “Cock” brand, and who quarried part
of his tenant's land at Stockton Fields. That
was still in the future, as Charles was still only
sixteen when George died.

Thanks largely to over fifteen years research
compiled by A.J. Francis in his exhaustive
study of the cement industry in the last
century, something is known of at least some
of the Griffins London customers *':

William Lee & Son

In 1850 and in 1851 over half the lime sold by
William Griffin went to this company, then
sales ceased. The fact that in 1852 the Griffins
started supplying cement to a competitor,
William Ashby, may have meant that his
production capacity did not permit him to meet
al the potential orders for lime. At any rate,
cement brought in double the revenue per ton
that lump lime did, despite the extra labour
involved in grinding..

William Lee was born in 1801, the youngest
son of a Lewisham building contractor, and
was perhaps the most prominent of the traders
and manufacturers based on the River Medway
during the early nineteenth century. If Stockton
blue lias lime was in demand in the area, it
must have been because of its high quality,
since abundant raw material was available
locally - both grey and white chalk and
Medway estuary clay.

The Medway industry had the disadvantage of
a lack of deep-water berths, which meant for
example that works barges had to trans-ship
export orders to larger seagoing Thames
vessels, nevertheless by the early 1900s, the
Medway cement industry comprised some 26
works.

In 1881 William Lee died, but the firm
continued trading in the face of growing
foreign competition, until in 1900 it was
registered as a limited company with a capita
of £125,000, the works then covering 31 acres
with 500 acres of quarries nearby.

As at the time when the firm was a customer of
Griffin's works, they had a London wharf at
Blackfriars, their fleet of sailing barges
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numbered about eighty, and had black sails
decorated with the White Horse of Kent

Finaly, in 1911, William Lee, Son & Co.
amal gamated with 32 other companies to form
the British Portland Cement Manufacturers
Ltd.

Pearce and Smith
This London partnership was by far the most
important customer for lime in 1849,

purchasing nearly 500 tons, ten times as much
as the second largest lump lime buyer. They
were the railway contractors for the
Copenhagen Tunnel, still in use just north of
King's Cross Station. As work was started on
the tunnel on 27" March 1849 it is not
impossible that the Stockton lime went into
mortar for the brick-built tunnel.

The building of this Great Northern Railway,
linking London with York, with its
metropolitan terminus and exit tunnels,
generated great interest among the citizens of
London.

In the years 1849 and 1850 it was a popular
entertainment for Londoners, especialy in the
evenings, to watch the bricks being made for
the Copenhagen Tunnel. As the tunnelling
navvies excavated earth and clay, so the
contractors, Pearce and Smith, made bricks of
it at the tunnel mouth. In the earlier decades of
railway building immense numbers of bricks
were needed: 300,000 for an ordinary road
bridge, for example, and 14 million per mile
for atunnel. '8

In an 1850 treatise'®, Edward Dobson writes,
The clay is neither weathered nor
tempered, but as soon as dug, is wheeled
up an incline to the grinding mill. It is
mixed with a certain proportion of sifted
ashes, and, passing between rollers, falls
into a shed, whence it is, without further
preparation, wheeled to the moulders. The
moulds are of wood and the process
employed is that known as slop-moulding.
[.....] The bricks thus made are of an
irregular reddish brown colour, and of fair
average quality.

Over a century and a half later, nearly al these
bricks of tunnel-earth, many of them uneven
because of hurried handling, are still doing
their job. Held together by Griffin lime?
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Coles & Shadbolt

No record remains of the origina partnership,
but around 1850 Frederick Shadbolt was
making Roman cement in the Caledonian Rd
in Idlington, in the north of London. The
Griffin accounts ledger shows that a single
purchase was made by the firm, in 1853, and
sent to them at St James's Wharf in Caledonian
Road. The amount involved was just 28 tons
10 cwt, a normal load for a narrow boat, and
was apparently bought as a sample. It seems
that Shadbolt was not impressed.

In the 1870s, a nephew joined the firm, and
when the company erected a new Portland
cement works at Harefield, Middlesex, it was
he, Percy George Shadbolt, who became joint
manager with John King, of the firm of
Thetford brewers who had become partners.

Completed in 1880, the new works lay beside
the Grand Junction Canal, and had a weekly
output of 350 tons, which was sent mainly by
boat to Caledonian Road. Like William Lee,
Son & Co. Ltd, Coles Shadbolt & Co. Ltd
figured among the firms that amalgamated in
1911 to form the British Portland Cement
Manufacturers Ltd.

Thomas Freen & Co. Ltd.

Again, this firm purchased only a small
amount of lime from Griffin's Works, buying
27 tons 10 cwt on July 24 1849, and another 29
tons 15 cwt on September 4th, at the going rate
of ten shillings per ton. The total cost of these
two boatloads, £28 12s 6d, was paid by cash
on May 1st 1850. Francis writes that Thomas
Freen made a first attempt to make Portland
Cement at around this time, at his works at
Wouldham, on the Medway, and again it
seems reasonable to suppose that Griffin lime
was bought for trials.

The company frequently advertised both
Portland and Roman cement in the technical
press, but in 1855 they went bankrupt, and
athough a new company, the Wouldham
Patent Portland Cement Co., was formed the
same year, it too soon went into liquidation, in
1859. Nevertheless, new capital was available,
and production continued throughout the
century - among the firms who amalgamated in
1911, as mentioned previously, figured the
Wouldham Cement Co. (1900) Ltd.
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As a footnote, it may be added that both
among management and among workers, even
the larger companies belonging to the cement
industry in the nineteenth century were, like
the Griffin company, very much family affairs,
with  whole families working together,
generation succeeding generation, and owners
of different firms being related to each other.
Thus we find in 1834 one Richard Freen
Martin of Lambeth - the middle name is surely
not a chance coincidence - patenting “Martin's
cement”, made from powdered gypsum, pearl
ash and sulphuric acid.

This earliest of the gypsum or “marble”’
cements, notes The Builder in 1843, presents a
surface equal in smoothness to marble. We would
observe that the interior of the Chapel Royal,
Buckingham Palace, was stuccoed with Martin's
cement, and a few days later the edifice was fit for
the reception of Her Majesty.

(c) Cement

Although the weight of limestone sold did not
vary greatly throughout the period (see Table
1), it is noticeable that sales of lime slumped
between 1850 and 1851, the tonnage in the
second year being only 58% of the 1850
figure. Whether or not William had aready
planned to enter the cement-making business,
the halving of revenue from lime sales must
have spurred him to diversify, and the first
year of production, 1852, certainly initiated a
revival in company fortunes.

It is nevertheless difficult to establish any sort
of pattern as far as this side of affairs is
concerned, since with the exception of a small
transaction in 1854 with Nelson's, al of the
cement produced went to a single customer,
Messrs Ashby & Sons, at their Roman Cement
Works, Isleworth, Middlesex. From 1852 to
1854 it was the demand from this one source
which determined the overall fortunes of the
company.

Although in 1853 sdes of both lime and
limestone showed an increase, Ashby & Sons
took only 204 tons of Griffin cement compared
with 340 in 1852, causing company gross
turnover to drop from £827 to £760. In 1854,
cement sales increased to 655 tons and as a
result, gross company revenue almost doubled,
to £1,467. See the Appendix for more detailed
figures.
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William Ashby, born in 1788, was a Quaker
and the son of a banker of Staines. His
business, William Ashby & Son, was
established in 1825, as a barge transport
company carrying building materials. Within a
short period William had erected a works on
the Thames at Isleworth for the making of
Roman cement. Francis quotes the following
as being extracted from “local newspapers of
the 1920s":

Years ago a very stout gentleman, a
mountain of flesh in fact, might have been
seen walking from his house in North
Street to business. He was Mr Ashby and
he had a prosperous little cement works
in Town Wharf. Corpulence seemed as
little to his taste as it is to the ladies. [...]
He did not give the impression of extreme
affability but as his workmen stayed with
him for many years, it is possible that his
looks belied him. Ashby's Roman cement
works adjoined Beck's wharf.

The stone was dredged from the sea
somewhere near Brightlingsea and usually
contained a lot of small crabs. It was brought
up by barge to the wharf. William Ashby was
aso the proprietor of a fleet of sea going and
river trading craft for which he had extensive
river frontage with berth accommodation for
loading and discharging.

He also owned a warehouse in Upper Thames
St., London, at which craft from Isleworth
discharged cargo for transmission by road to
inland markets. It was probably to the Beck's
wharf mentioned above that three loads of
Griffin's Blue Lias lime went in 1854, when an
account in the name of Mr E. [Edward] Beck
of Isleworth is opened in the ledger.

One entry is of particular interest as canal and
river dues are itemised; it is reproduced in the
chapter on the Role of the Canals.

It seems certain that William Griffin never met
the stout Mr Ashby, as the London
manufacturer died in 1850, whereas the first
business done between the two enterprises
apparently dates from 1852. It would have
been with William Ashby's son George
Crowley Ashby that the Griffins dealt, since he
took control of the business on his father's
death, continuing the production of Roman
cement for a further twenty years. In 1870
George moved to East Greenwich and erected
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works for making Portland cement; by the
1880s production had reached 7,500 tons a
year, selling at 35s per ton. Ashby and Sons
finaly ceased cement manufacture in 1926 and
reverted to founder William's original business
of the distribution of building materials. Their
successors today are the well-known firm of
Builders Merchants.

Although a directory of 1874 (see below) still
mentions cement-making as part of the Griffin
company activities, there is no known
reference to William himself as a “cement
maker”.

In the census returns for 1841 and 1851, his
occupation is given simply as farmer, whilein

the 1861 census, taken shortly before his death,
he appears as “farmer and Blue Lias lime
burner”.

Underlining the importance of the London
market, those present at Stockton Fields on the
night of the 1851 census included a visiting
cement maker, a 43-year-old native of
“London, St. Lukes’, named Matthew
Fullwood. The surname is not easily legible,
but a London search of the 1881 census
produced just a single entry for the name, one
Matthew Fulwood, colour and cement maker,
whose age and birthplace tally with the
Stockton entry. It has not been possible to
establish the name of the company that he
represented

See note %

1850 franking inscribed “Works”
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Remains of two of eleven kilns which existed at Griffin’s Works
when the assets of the company were put up for sale in 1910.
The three views date from around the year 1970.
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6. Management and mismanagement

E can but speculate as to what part

other members of the Griffin family

played in the management or
financing of the Works during William's
lifetime. It is however very possible that his
entrepreneurial brother George of Southam,
Wine & Spirits Merchant and supplier of top
hats to Rugby School, had a finger in the pie
2 A promissory note by which £75 was
borrowed in 1847 from one Thomas Martin
was jointly signed by George and William, and
written by the former a Southam %.
Furthermore, great-grandchildren of William,
the generation of Stockton Griffins born in the
second decade of the twentieth century,
remembered an old sign which read “George
Griffin, Lime Works': whether this was
George of Southam or William's own son
George remains a mystery.

Nevertheless, up to the time of his decease,
William is the only name to appear in records
bearing any mention of the Lime Works, and
most if not all of the extant accounts, covering
the years 1849 to 1854 plus a late credit entry
in 1856, appear to have been written in his
own hand, early entries being initialled by him.

Further research may reveal what successes or
failures the remainder of the 50s brought. It is
however clear that William did not make his
fortune, and in fact left considerable unpaid
debts, but he should have been able to live
more comfortably than some of his neighbours
who depended solely on farming the not very
rich lands in the area. When he died in 1861,
he left “effects under £3,000” 2, the “stock,
furniture &c on the farm at Stockton” being
valued in 1869 at £1,873 *.

Following William's death, his appointed
executors took charge of things, and in White's
Directory of 1874 there are separate entries for
“Griffin, William, (executors of): blue lias
lime and cement manufacturers’; “Griffin,
Thomas, executor & manager” (William's son,
farmer at Birdingbury Fields) and “Archer,
Thomas, executor & manager” (William's
son-in-law, chemist, of Southam). This is
incidentally one of the few known references
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in print to cement making as part of the
activities of the company.

Evidence of the financial state in which
William Griffin left his affairs comesin aletter
of October 1866. Thomas Archer wrote to his
fellow executor Thomas Griffin to complain
that accounts were not then being properly
kept, and also made it clear that he was not too
happy about the general management of the
business *:

“You must remember that we are both
accountable parties with regard to the
Trustship, and we must keep accounts in such
a manner that we can explain and justify our
conduct to your Mother and every other
member of the family, and it is my particular
desire that this should be very carefully
attended to. If | leave the working out of
details of the business to you | expect you will
keep an account of all your business
transactions with regard to receipts and
payments, and to sales and purchases. | shall
also expect that the account Books and all
Vouchers be kept in some secure place to
which | can have access whenever | may desire
that | may examine the same and if needed take
copies of them.

“1 do not authorize you to put the management
of the business into other hands. If you cannot
manage it yourself pray inform me and we
must appoint a suitable person to manage it or
to assist you, otherwise we must give up the
business, for | cannot consent that the business
shall be carried on without having proper
accounts kept and without such accounts being
submitted for my inspection. | have thought it
best to write thus plainly and at the same time
it is intended kindly hoping that if we
understand each other and our duty and
responsibility better we shall get on better than
we do now.

“I..] Your Mother is entitled to the income
from your Father's estate and she has a right
to spend such income as she pleases; she will
perhaps say she has had no income. | do not
deny this - your Father's creditors had a first
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claim and the debts on the estate had to be
paid and thank God by good management that
will soon be effected.

“1 hope soon to see your accounts and hear
whether you are prepared to carry out the
suggestions of this note, or if you have others
to offer instead | hope you will soon let me
know what they are, as if | do not hear
something from you of a satisfactory kind |
shall take steps to protect myself from liability
under your Father's Will.”

William Griffin surely cannot have been that
bad a businessman. He had had the initiative to
set up on his own at Stockton Fields, leaving
the family farms a Avon Dassett and
Farnborough, where his forebears had lived for
generations, and to found the lime business
when the opportunity arose. It may simply be
that as old age overtook him he was no longer
really able to cope, but soldiered on as none of
his sons was ready to take things over in his
stead.

He seems to have recognised in his chemist
son-in-law Thomas Archer a man able to turn
things round, appointing him as a trustee, and
indeed it appears from the tone of the above
letter that the latter became the driving force.
At the same time, the ill-feding referred to
may be understandable, if Thomas Griffin felt
that his brother-in-law made the rules and took
al the credit, while he was doing all the work.

In 1874, Thomas Griffin died, reputedly of
measles, at the early age of forty-two . It
seems logical to suppose that his surviving
brothers William, John and George took a
hand in running the company, although they
too were all involved in farming. William and
John appear to have remained all their bachelor
lives at Stockton Fields, while to judge from
directory entries, George spent most of his
time managing the Griffin farm at Avon
Dassett Fields, where he died, aged 41, in
1882.

Southam Griffins were still involved in 1881.
George the hatter's son John, cousin to the
Stockton family, and brother-in-law too after
marrying his cousin Sarah Jane, appears in the
1881 census for Southam as “farmer, wine and
spirits merchant and lime merchant.”

What by this time had become of the
businesses of Greaves, Oldham, Nelson and
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Walker, mentioned as being the chief
lime-burners in the area at the time when
William Griffin started his business?

Greaves & Kirshaw had in the 1860s become
Greaves, Kirshaw and Bull, when John
Coulson Bull, son of the Rector of St Thomas's
Birmingham, had joined the partnership.
Within a few years Kirshaw retired, and in
1870 Richard Greaves died. He had lived in
Warwick in his later years, had served on the
magistrate's bench, been Mayor of the town,
and aso High Sheriff, as well as being
chairman of the Stratford-on-Avon Railway
and a director of the North and South-West
Junction Railway.

He had been married to Catherine, daughter of
North Wales date industry pioneer Samuel
Holland, and a cousin of Mrs Gaskell the
authoress, but died childless. Of his two
brothers, one was MP for Warwick, and the
other owned the Portmadoc slate mine, which
was a one time the second largest in the
world.

Greaves leaving no sons, it was a nephew,
Michael Henry (later Sir Michael) Lakin who
became a partner, the firm being renamed
Greaves, Bull and Lakin. Bull died in 1885 and
Michael was joined by his brother Edward.
Michael Lakin was for many years Deputy
Chairman of the County Council and was
created a baronet in 1909 for services to
Warwickshire. In the same year, his works
were reconstructed with modern plant.

As for William Oldham, in 1868 he had
retired, and the works and quarries, which
belonged to him, were leased to his associates
Tatham and Lister-Kaye. In 1875 Tatham,
Kaye & Co. became Kaye & Co. when
Lawrence Tatham retired, and in 1880 Arthur
Lister-Kaye purchased the works from the
Oldham family and formed a limited company.
On his death in 1893, his widow Eugenia and
son Lister (later Sir Lister) took over. A new
workswas built in 1908.

William Griffin's landlord George Nelson
having died in 1850, his business was handled
by relatives until in 1856 his 22-year-old son
Charles took over. He introduced the
manufacture of cement at the lime works
which had been started by his father, and
traded as Charles Nelson & Co. Meanwhile the
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family gelatine and isinglass business at
Warwick continued to function separately as
George Nelson, Dae & Co., and was
eventually taken control of by Charless
younger brothers. It is still in existence today
as part of the Davis Gelatine Group.

In 1870 Charles took into partnership two of
his brothers, George and Montague, together
with Thomas Blyth and William Blackstone,
London lime and cement merchants, though in
general the products of the Warwickshire
manufacturers were directed to Birmingham
and other Midland industrial centres, the
Welsh borders and North-West England.

It is known that at this time the company was
making under licence a cement containing
calcium sulphate, known as Scott's or Selenitic
cement. In fact, many other companies were
doing likewise, including Greaves, Bull &
Lakin. Henry Scott was an instructor at
Chatham and in charge of the laboratory there,
and as such maintained the establishment's
relationship with the industry, formed by
Pasley over forty years previously.

He had discovered that limestone burned in the
presence of sulphur dioxide produced a lime
which did not slake in water, but gradually
hardened like cement. When in 1871 he
formed the Patent Selenitic Company Ltd.,
Charles Nelson & Co. were among the
shareholders. This traded until the patent
expired in 1883. Even today, a small quantity
of gypsum (naturally occurring calcium
sulphate) is added to Portland cement to
regulate the setting time.

To judge by letters sent by Charles Nelson to
his Stockton Fields tenant Ann Griffin,
William's widow, he was a considerate
landlord. Writing to her from his home at
Crackley Hill, Kenilworth, on January 11,
1876, he says that he is “sorry to be obliged to
remark on the unsatisfactory condition into wh.
a large proportion of the farm has been
alowed to fal”, with “each year the fields
more overgrown with weeds.”

Suggesting that it might be better if she gave
up the tenancy, he recognised that “there may
be, however, persona feelings in connection
with a place wh. has so long been your home,
that would render any change too painful, &
such feelings | fed bound to respect. |
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therefore merely offer the suggestion as a
friend, leaving the decision entirely in your
hands.”

In the event, after another year had passed
without the situation improving, Charles felt
obliged in January 1877 to serve Ann with
notice to quit by March 1878. As fate would
have it, Charles was not to live that long, as he
succumbed the same year to Bright's (kidney)
disease, leaving a widow and ten children.
Blyth and Blackstone, his executors, granted
Ann Griffin a reprieve, and the Griffins
continued at the farm for another three
generations spanning ninety years.

Under Blyth and Blackstone's management, a
limited company was formed in 1886. The
Nelson family itself was increasingly
preoccupied with  overseas operations,
including shipping and property developments
in Australia and New Zedand, and the
establishment of the great Canterbury lamb
and other meat refrigeration business of
Nelson Brothers, a name preserved in the
present-day Nelson Financial Trust. By 1904
the directors of the Stockton cement company
were Montague (later Sir Montague) Nelson,
and Charles, George and Howard, the sons of
Thomas Blyth. Although quarrying and cement
production in the Stockton area is now in the
hands of Rugby Cement plc, formerly the
Rugby Portland Cement Co., “Nelson's’ has
left its mark on the community. “Nelson's
Club”, started by the company for its
employees, still exists as the local social club,
and many of the houses in Stockton were built
in the yellow brick made from the clay
removed from near the surface of the limestone
quarries . They provided accommodation for
Nelson's workers, in Napton Road, George St.
and ElIm Row - this last sadly elmless now,
since Dutch elm disease struck in the 1970s.
Other such yellow-brick houses are to be found
outside Stockton, in the village of Kineton, for
example.

Regarding the old quarries on the east
(Stockton) side of the Rugby road, at the time
of writing they continued to provide a quiet
haunt for nature-lovers and fishermen, their
blue-grey hillocks of spoil no doubt still hiding
many a fossil, like the petrified skeleton of an
ichthyosaurus which for many years decorated
a flower bed in the front garden at Hill Farm
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until the farmhouse was demolished in 1981.
The “Nelson's Quays’ development scheme
proposed in the late 1980s by a consortium
including Rugby Cement, and involving the
building of a marina and up-market water-side
housing with individual boat-houses, as well as
some more modest dwellings, did not come to
fruition.

As for Thomas Walker of Newbold near
Rugby, after his death in 1856, his son George
Henry took over, and in 1862 formed the
Rugby Lias lime & Cement Co., in partnership
with none other than Lawrence Mallory
Tatham. Tatham's associate Lister-Kaye later
joined them, but in 1868 Walker bought them
out, at the same time agreeing to supply them

with lime and cement a the following
ex-works prices. Lump lime, 7/- per ton;
ground lime, 9/6 per ton; best artificial cement,
1/- per bushel; all other cements, 9d per
bushel.

Initially Walker was to supply not less than
400 tons of lime and 50 tons of cement per
week, to be sold as Rugby Blue Lias Lime, and
Rugby Portland or Rugby Roman cement as
the case may be. This arrangement continued
until Walker's death in 1872, when a new
company was formed called the Rugby
Portland Cement Co., with a share capital of
£60,000. Various groups succeeded each other
in control of the company, including members
of the Walker family, untill the business
ceased to function as a partnership in 1925.

Stockton Fields farmhouse in the 1880s. The men in the foreground are believed to be two of William

the lime-burner’s four sons, John Griffin (1837-1906), following whose death the Works’ assets were
disposed of by his executors, and his brother William (1827-1891). Sister Sarah Jane, who married
her cousin John Griffin, publican and sometime lime merchant of Southam, may be the lady standing
in the background, on the left.
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7. Thelast years

Y al accounts Griffin's Works were

still very much a going concern in

1893, for it was then that the solid
red-brick dwelling now known as “Griffin's
House” was built, to the north of the original
quarry site. It included a foreman's office, and
was possibly contemporary with a grinding
shed and chimney built down near the canal
wharf.

The dwelling was formerly known as
“Barrott's House’, after its first occupant,
William Barrott, who “as foreman of the works
was required to live nearby to supervise the
grinding sheds and steam grinding engines.” %

Kelly's Post Office Directory for 1896 has a
Stockton entry for “Griffin & Co., blue lias
[ime manufacturers’. No mention now of
cement-making, which may have ceased.

By now, an important role in the business was
amost certainly played by John Griffin of
Southam, who had inherited his father
George's wine and spirits business, by al
accounts a prosperous one, since he and his
wife and first cousin Sarah Jane, as we know
from lega papers such as tax and property
transfer documents, owned both land and
houses in the area. In the 1881 census
(although not in earlier or later censuses taken
in his lifetime) as well as being in wine and
spirits he is described as a “lime merchant”.

Thefirst years of the twentieth century saw the
final decline of the Lime Works, because of
competition from larger neighbours, but aso
because the quarries were becoming worked
out. The last area quarried by the Griffins was
to the east of the Rugby road, a few hundred
yards from the origina site, and on the north
side of the area known as “Calley Gardens’,
which itself had been quarried and then filled
in again using waste from the quarries on
either side, so that it was recovered for
agricultural use.

Tramroad tracks were moved and re-laid as
different areas were excavated, and the last
stretch of track ran through a tunnel under the
road, on the north side of the now disused
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railway cutting, down to “the lime bank”, the
canalside bank of waste by the company
wharf.

Fina closure came in the first decade of the
twentieth century. The last of William's sons,
John Griffin, died in 1906, and in 1910 his
executors ordered the sale of the company’s
assets. Ironicaly, the fina sale notices,
published in the Leamington Spa Courier on
November 18" 1910, and reproduced on the
next page, give us the most detaled
information we have as to the former scale of
limeburning operations and the equipment
used.

While, as will be seen in the next chapter,
canal transport was certainly the most
important means used by the enterprise in its
heyday, how important a role was later played
by the railway when this came to Stockton has
yet to be clarified. Suffice it to quote from the
sde notice ® when the land and former
foreman's house were put on the market in
1943, to the effect that “the L.M.S. Railway
passes through the land, and a railway siding
which previously served the original works
could no doubt be again connected up.”

After the Second World War, the site of the
first excavations, as well as adjoining land
which had been quarried by Nelson's, was used
for tipping refuse, until in the late 1980s, when
the surface of the tip had reached the original
surface level, it was covered with earth and
reseeded, leaving but little trace of the activity
which had begun a hundred and fifty years
before.

The last remaining ruins of the chimney and
accompanying building, and the old arches of
the entrances to the lime kilns, still exist at the
time of writing, while a millstone from a
grinding shed, embedded in the yard at the rear
of “Griffin's House”, possibly , survives as a
humble monument to Griffin's Works.
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8. The Role of the Canals

INKING Griffin's works with the
outside world was the fourteen-mile
long Warwick and Napton Canal,
which joined the national network at the two
terminal  points mentioned, and enabled

Stockton Blue Lias lime and cement to be
carried all over the country.

If it went south, this was by way of the Oxford
canal into the Grand Junction Cana, which
joined the Thames Navigation near Brentford,

and if need be, right into the heart of London,
via the Paddington branch and the Regent's
Cand. If boats went north to the industria
North Midlands, the Oxford, Coventry, and
Ashby de la Zouch canals were those used .

The following entries have been extracted
from a 1904 canal distance table, which gives
the distances in miles and in furlongs, or
eighths of amile * :

Point on the Warwick and Napton Canal MF

Budbrooke, junction with Warwick & Birmingham Canal 0

Warwick, Cape Wharf| 04

Emscote, Nelson's Works| *1 5

Emscote, Blaydon's Old Wharf & Buffery's Lime Wharf| *17

Leamington Stone Wharf| 32

Leamington, Flavel's Foundry| *3 5

Offchurch Wharf 54

Bascote, Buffery's Lime Stone Wharf| 84

Cuttle Wharf, Long Itchington| 97

Stockton, Tatham & Witherington's Lime Works| 10 3

Stockton, Greaves & Co.'s Lime Works [opp. locks 10 & 11]| 104

Stockton, Griffin's Lime Works [opposite locks no. 5& 6]| 107

Stockton Top Lock [one of a flight of nine; nos. 4 to 12]| 110

Birdingbury Wharf| 11 2

Nelson's Lime Works| 115

Gibralter Wharf|+11 7

Calcutt Bottom Lock [one of a flight of three]| 13 5

Napton Junction, junction with Oxford Canal| 14 2

* Nelson's, and Checketts & Buffery, both of Warwick, and Mr
Mitchell of Foundry Wharf Leamington, were all listed as customers for
Griffin limestone in the company accounts for 1849-1854.

+ Nearby “Gibralter Farm”, as it appears on local maps, confirms this

“-ar” spalling.




The Role of the Canals
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The importance of the canal was a point that days after signing the original |ease agreement
William had sought to stress in two draft for hisfirst quarry with Capt. Lamb. The drafts
advertisements written on 1st July 1841, a few % read asfollows:
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Ironically , due to the coming of the railways, Already, in 1839, a 20% reduction in cana
revenue from canal transport was aready on tolls on through traffic was necessary in the
the decline when Griffin's Lime Works were face of railway competition, and by 1844 they
founded, but the Warwick & Napton were but a third of what they had been six
nevertheless played arole in the local industry years earlier. Nevertheless in 1842 a sizeable
right into the twentieth century. Moreover, at total of 14,515 boats is recorded as having
the turn of the century, it was noted, “steamers passed from the Warwick & Napton Canal at
engaged in the London and Birmingham traffic Napton Junction *.

regularly trade over the canal.”
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The Role of the Canals

The narrow boats or “monkey boats’ using the
cana carried between 25 and 30 tons each,
normally in not more than twos, owing to the
difficulty in passing locks. Average speeds
attained by one horse were 2 m.p.h. for one
boat and 1% m.p.h. for two; a mile an hour
faster if empty.

Thus on Monday, March 15th, 1869, when
steerer Cox was on the way back from
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Oakthorpe Calliery, near Ashby de la Zouch,
he wrote to his employer (all in one breath?)

“Mr Griffin Sir 1 Write to inform you that i
have being at the QOakthorp pets 10 Days
Waiting for the Slake but i ham loaded now
and on my way home i Shall be at home
about the medel of the day on Wensday i ham
Sir your Obeante Sur(v)ent Henry Cox’3*:

7 : A arm %.:,- f’“”' j/éam}ﬁ/

e —

—

He faced a 33-mile journey via the Oxford
Canal, i.e. between 17 and 22 hours' travelling
time, depending on the number of boats
involved. No doubt he tried to make good time
after being kept waiting so surprisingly long
for his coa dack, athough he perhaps had his
wife Emma and baby son Thomas with him for
company.
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The night of the 1881 census found
44-year-old Henry, who was a native of
Stratford-on-Avon, on his Canad Boat at
Stockton, with his Droitwich-born wife,
14-year-old Tom, whose birthplace is given as
Stockton, and daughters Emily and Sarah Ann,
aged nine and three, both born up the cana at
Braunston.
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9. The Coventry and Warwick Canals and their connections
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The Role of the Canals

By all accounts the canal was a slow but sure
way of moving Griffin lime and cement, at
least as far as may be judged from evidence
afforded by the 1849-54 ledger. In the case of
just one customer, Charles Richardson of 6
South Wharf, Paddington, do we read (for
1854)

Apr 1 [deducted] “for damaged lime 2s 6d"
[which was a mere five cwt], and again,
following the June entries,

“Spoilt Lime.. 10 Tons... 17/6: £8 15s.”

Asthe lime was being sold in this case at 10s a
ton, it may be that the customer was paying
another 7s 6d for canal tolls and haulage, and
when William made good the damaged lime he
had to foot the bill.

There is supporting evidence in another 1854
entry: Mr E. Beck of Ideworth near London is
charged as follows:

£ sd

Apr22 Lime28tons10cwtat 10/- 1450
Naptontonnage 128

Grand JunctionDo 300

Thames Dues 42

Waterman 76

Haulaged 28-10 at 5/- prton. _726

26110

This represents an al-in figure of about 18s 5d
per ton, close to the figure paid by William
Griffin on the “spoilt lime”, which went to a
destination not so far from Isleworth. Another
load of lime was sold to Mr Beck in July, for
which a similar proportion of extra costs were
aso shown separately, athough not then
itemised, but given simply as a single total
described as “Expenses’. Finaly, a sale dated
October 9th 1854, the last in the ledger to this
customer, does not mention costs, but quotes
18s 6d per ton, obviously the al-in price.

There were of course locks and tunnels to be
negotiated, the latter involving on occasion
“legging”, where for lack of a continuous
towpath horses could not pass, and boatmen
had to lie on their backs and push against the
tunnel wall to keep under way. One wonders
what happened on a summer's day in 1849,
when the transportation of a load of lime for
Messrs Pearce & Smith of London, via the
Braunston and Blisworth tunnels, resulted in
William's noting in the accounts the special
entry “Expencesto men at Tunnel £1 10s”.
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It was of course both to buyer's and sdller's
advantage if the boats were loaded both ways.
In 1867, a customer wrote from “Measham,
near Atherstone, Derbyshire” (near Oakthorpe
- seemap) *:

“Mr Griffin Sr will you Pleas to give me a
order fore 2 Loads of Sack as We Want 2
Loade of Lime Soone and we have not got
heney orders in Pleas to send word by Return
of Post and Pleas to Enclose me the order and
then | will Settle the Remainder of that a count
From your Humble Survant John Bird”

Large amounts of slack would be needed for
lime burning, or perhaps also to fuel a steam
engine to grind the stone.

The June 1866 bill from the Warwick and
Napton Cana Company shows that 172 tons of
Griffin's lime were carried on the canal during
the month, in six loads of between 28 and 30
tons, as well as 108 tons of coal, in two
presumably double boatloads of 54 tons each.
Henry Cox's name appears again here, with
those of boatmen Wilson, Brooks, Wright, and
—Coles ®,

The 1866 toll for lime and coal was 4d a ton,
and this indicates that loca tolls held up
reasonably well when the bottom dropped out
of the market for through traffic, for example
on the London to Birmingham route. When the
Warwick and Napton Canal was opened in
1800, afigure of 6d a ton had been quoted for
lime and limestone; this included tolls north on
the Oxford Canal until it joined the Grand
Junction in Northamptonshire, or as far as the
Coventry Canal, but not south, and would
obviously have encouraged northward trade.

By way of comparison, in 1904 the London to
Birmingham through toll worked out at 0.21d
per ton per mile for the part of the journey
between Warwick and Napton, which gives a
total of almost exactly 3d per ton ¥'.

Back in 1849, an account in the ledger in the
name of Mr William Thomas of Bedworth
shows that on January 25th, he was paid £205
1s 6d for “Coals’, presumably supplied during
the previous year of 1848. How much was
actually for Griffin's Works is of course open
to speculation - it is known that in much later
years, a least, loca coa merchants were
supplied.



The Role of the Canals

In fact a 1904 invoice is headed “Blue Lias
Lime Works, Stone Quarry and Coa Wharf.”
This invoice also lists sand, while on the 1866
toll bill appear three entries for manure.
Obvioudly any heavy low value cargo would

T -
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be carried on the narrow boats, and this side of
the business may even have outlasted the
production of lime, which at any rate was
carried on for at least sixty years ®.




Postscript

South aspect of the Eddystone Light-house

For over 300 years, the famous Eddystone lighthouse has marked a deadly reef 13 miles off Polperro in
Cornwall. In fact, the present building isthe fifth.

The first was built by Henry Winstanley as early as 1698, and was a world's first for such an exposed
position. However, it had to be virtually rebuilt by him after just a few months' battering. Proud of his
second wooden house, he defied an approaching storm to visit it. When the storm abated, lighthouse,
keepers, and poor Henry, had all vanished for ever.

John Rudyerd completed the third light in 1709 using shipbuilding principles. It resisted 47 years of storms
until ironically, it was burned down, when the candles giving light to warn the shipping set the roof on fire.

Enter the Blue Lias. In 1759, John Smeaton completed his lighthouse of granite blocks, dovetailed together

and cemented with a mixture of his own invention, using pozzolana and the Lias. Removed after 127 years,
it now stands atop Plymouth Hoe, a monument to Smeaton and the strength of the Blue Lias cement.
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works, Stockton, Warwickshire.
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% GR Piece 38. Receipt for amount of valuation made 12th May 1869, signed by the trustees of the late Wm. Griffin.



Notes, references and bibliography.

% GR Piece 16. Letter from Thos Archer to Thos Griffin. 18 Oct 1866.

% According to Marjorie Sparkes (see note 14), her grandmother, Thomas's widow, used to say that her husband had
died of measles “caught off old Blundell”, the Blundells having been farming neighbours of the Griffins. The death
certificate leaves the matter in doubt; as measles caught in adulthood could indeed lead to bronchial complications such
as the form of tuberculosis given as the cause of death. Whether the culprit would have been John Blundell (bap. 1826),
Birdingbury farmer between at least 1861 and 1876, or his father Richard, from whom he took over, is not clear.

" GR Piece 11. Letter from Charles Nelson to William’s widow Ann (née Clarke) (1800-85).
% Memories of Thomas Griffin (1913-2004), great-grandson of the founder.

% GR Piece 95 - copy of notice of sale on Apr 7 1943, “by direction of the Administrators of the Estate of Miss Anne
Griffin deceased” of freehold property at Stockton, “comprising Cottage, Agricultural Land and Works Site with canal
frontage.”

% The map reproduced here to show the routes of the canal and railway serving the works is taken from The Warwick
Canals by Alan Faulkner (pub. Railway & Canal Historical Society, 1985).

%! Bradshaw's Canals and Navigable Rivers of England and Wales, 1904. 1969 reprint, published by David & Charles.
% GR Piece 26 - copy & transcript of two draft advertisements (1841)

% Bradshaw (1904), op.cit.

* GR Piece 61. Letter from Henry Cox to “Mr Griffin”. March 15 1869.

% GR Piece 60. Letter from John Bird to “Mr Griffin”. May 1st 1869.

% GR Piece 14. June 1866 toll bill from Warwick & Napton Canal Co.

3" Bradshaw (1904), op.cit.

% GR Piece 30. 1904 invoice, Blue Lias Lime WKs., Stone Quarry etc.
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Alphabetical list of customers 1849-54, wit TRames, addresses, occupations and info. sources.
Section 2 Sales and turnover by customer = | 55-63

Tables showing amounts and value of limestone, of lime lumps of “burnt lime”, i.e. quicklime, and of
ground burnt lime) and of cement sold to each customer, by year, for the period covered by the extant
sales ledger - 1849-54. Grand totals are also given, including overall gross company revenue for the
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works, Stockton, Warwickshire. Customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.
Column heading abbreviations: P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details
M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell's entries specify which.

Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’'s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason'’s Brentford etc.1853 ( S. London)
ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'Tham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White’s WAR 1850wl Whellan’'s NTH 1849

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
2 Abbots [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
35 Alsop John Mr Napton-on-the-Hill WAR | farmer, butcher wh | L
134 Alsop Thomas Mr Napton WAR | farmer wh | L
137,140-1, 196 | Ashby William & Son | Roman Cement Works Town Wharf Isleworth | MDX | Roman cement mfr. & plaster of Paris/gypsum. o |C
1847 at Broken Wharf Upper Thames St.(P.O.LND 1847)

13,118,170 | Ball [Betsey] Mrs Catherine de Barnes Heath[Solihull] WAR | lime burner, coal dealer & farmer. Not in White's 1850. pw | S
128 Barnes Wm Mr Sawhbridge [parish of Wolfhamcote] WAR | Not in directories w, 0, or 2. L
57 Barnwell [Wm.Mason] | Sawbridge [parish of Wolfhamcote] WAR | farmer. 21 houses at the time in Sawbridge hamlet. wh | L
110 Barnwell William Mr | Thurlaston [Dunchurch] WAR | farmer wh | L
2 Bayes [Cash sales 1849; no place] prob. William Bayes, farmer L
30,178 Bayes Wm. Mr Stockton WAR | farmer wh | L
171 Bayliss Wm. Mr Braunston NTH | farmer, grazier wh | L
1 Beasley [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
28 Beasley Joseph Mr Dunchurch WAR | bricklayer wh | L
174 Beasley William Mr Thurlaston Toll Gate [Dunchurch] WAR | bricklayer cn | L
192 Beck E[dward] Mr [Shrewsbury Wharf] Isleworth MDX | timber, slate & stone merchant ma | L
44 Beck Joseph Mr Stockton WAR | farmer, tailor [in w; & 0,2,respectively - if same person] wh | L
47 Beck William Mr Stockton WAR | farmer wh | L
2 Bicknell C. [Cash sales 1849; no place] prob. Chas. Bicknell, stone mason L
83 Bicknell Chas. Mr [Coventry St.] Southam WAR | stone mason wh | L
2 Biggs [Cash sales 1849; no place] possibly a servant at Blundells' Farm Birdingbury L
123 Black Robert Mr Toft [Dunchurch] WAR | farmer; land agent to Lord John Scott. wh | L
115 Blick William Mr [Dun Cow] Dunchurch WAR | farmer, publican wh | L
16 Bloore [& Rhodes] Mr | Stretton Wharf [Stretton-under-Fosse] WAR | wharfingers & corn dealers pw | S
- Blundell Richard see Brundle Richard Mr

2 Bolten [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
157 Bromfield H. Revd [not stated] poss Curate of Charlecote WAR L
127 Bromfield [H.J.] Mr Causton [Cawston, par. Dunchurch] WAR | farmer. Henry Jenkins Bromfield. wh | L
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.
Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.

Column heading abbreviations: P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details
M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.

Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason’s Brentford etc.1853 ( S. London)
ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'Tham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White’s WAR 1850wl Whellan’'s NTH 1849

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
2 | Brunde [Blundell?] [Cash sales 1849; no place] poss. Richard Blundell [21] L
116 | Brundle Richard Mr Birbury [=Birdingbury] WAR | prob. farmer, Richard Blundell, Birdingbury Fields. pw | L
122 | Bucknell [Chas.] Rev Neithercote [hamlet of Nethercote] WAR | incumbent, Wolfhamcote: Rev. Charles Reading Bucknill (sic) | wh | S
-- | Bucknill see Bucknell

-- | Bullin see Bulling

135| Bulling [Thos.Wm] Mr Toft [Dunchurch] WAR | farmer. Bullin (sic) Thomas William pb | L
60 | Burden John Mr Priors Hardwick WAR | butcher wh | L
154 | Chamberlayne H.T. Esq Thorpe [=Stoney Thorpe or Stoneythorpe] | WAR | Henry Thomas Chamberlayne of Stoneythorpe Hall, Southam. L
77 | Chambers (Thomas] Mr Birbury [=Birdingbury] WAR | bricklayer wh | L
102 | Chambers William Mr Dunchurch WAR | bricklayer wh | L
2 | Chambers Wm. [Cash sales 1849; no place] prob. the Dunchurch bricklayer L
191 | Checketts & Buffery Messrs | [Emscote] Warwick WAR | stone & marble masons wh |S
82 | Church Richard Mr [Kings Arms] Stockton WAR | publican, plumber & glazier. wh | L
131 | Churchwardens Lm.H. Leamington Hasting[s] WAR L
132 | Churchwardens Stock. Stockton WAR L
166| Clarke Mr Coventry WAR | builder? (Wm.) Sovereign pl.; or Chas., bricklayer, Albion St; | wh | S
1 | Clarrage [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
49 | Cleaver Samuel Mr Stockton WAR | notinw, o, 2. L
161 | Coles & Shadbolt St James Wharf Caledonian Rd Isington | LND | Roman cement manufacturer. See Francis, p.174 o |L
56 | Coles [Wm.] Mr Offchurch WAR | farmer wh | L
86 | Congreve [Thos.] Mr Leamington Hastings WAR | farmer wh | L
168 | Cooke George Mr [Nether or Lower] Shuckburgh WAR | coal and corn merchant & farmer pb | L
184 | Cornborough [John]Mr Grandborough WAR | farmer wh | L
107 | Crofts Thomas Mr Causton [Cawston, par. Dunchurch] WAR | No Thomas in w,0,2.A John Crofts,farmer, under Dunchurch. L
2 | Curtis [Cash sales 1849; no place] ?farmer L
177 Curtis [Mary] Mrs Farnborough WAR | farmer wh | L
52 | Curtis [Wm.] Mr Priors Marston WAR | farmer wh | L
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.
Column heading abbreviations: P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details

ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'ham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White's WAR 1850wl Whellan’s NTH 1849

M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.
Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason’s Brentford etc.1853 ( S. London)

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
1 | Daffern [Cash sales 1849 (twice); no place] ? S
95 | Daffern James Wash La Nuneaton. Name/address deleted | WAR | White's 1850 gives a James Daffern, grocer & blacksmith, in Napton-on-the-Hill. X
2 | Douglas [Cash sales 1849; no place] Thos., farmer & shoemaker? L
54 | Douglas [Thos.] Mr Napton WAR | farmer & shoemaker wh | L
1 | Dugdalil [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
1 | Dunsford [Cash sales 1849 (twice); no place] ? S
129| Eadon Chas.junr. Mr | [Navigation Inn] Napton WAR | publican; grazier; coal merchant, Old Wharf wh | L
21 | Eadon Chas.senr. Mr | Napton WAR | farmer wh | S
50 | Elkington [James?]Mr | Broadwell [par.Leamington Hastings] | WAR | Only Broadwell Elkington entry in w : James, shoemaker.(One small purchase, 1849) | wh | L
53 | Fabling [Thos.] Mr [Manor House] Wormleighton WAR | grazier wh | L
67 | Fessey [John] Mr Stonten Motts [Stoneton, parish of WAR | farmer wh | L
25 | Finch Wm. Mr Stockton WAR | poss retired carpenter L
10 | Freen Thos Mr & Co. | [Canal Rd., Kingsland Rd.] London LND | Roman cement manufacturer. ma | L

2 | French (?) [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
29 | Garner John Mr Teachbrook [=Bishop's Tachbrook] WAR | farmer wh | L
156 | Garner John Mr Southam WAR | w.:no John Garner, but a John Gardner Esq., Southam Fields. L
66 | Garner [George] Mr | Wolscote [Woolscott,par.Grandboro'] WAR | farmer wh | L
59 | Gibbins Edmund Mr | Stockton WAR | notinw, 0, 2 L
112 | Gilbert Mrs Borton [prob.Bourton-on-Dunsmore] WAR | Not in w, o, 2 for B.- on- Dunsmore. L
39 | Goode John Mr Hill [Leamington Hastings] WAR | farmer wh | L
74 | Goode [Wm.] Mr Grandborough WAR | farmer wh | L

2 | Goodman [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
106| Grant Mr Fenny Compton WAR | White 1850 has John Grant, quarryman. L
70 | Griffin Edmund Boddington NTH | White 1850 has Edward Griffin, farmer, Upper Boddington L
88 | Griffin George Mr [High St.] Southam WAR | hatter wh | L
143 | Griffin James Mr Farnborough WAR | farmer wh | L

2 | Hall Thos. [Cash sales 1849; no place] prob. Thos. of Napton L
36 | Hall Thos. Mr Napton WAR | grazier wh | L

1 | Hambage [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.
Column heading abbreviations: P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details
M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.

Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason’s Brentford etc.1853 (' S. London)
ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'Tham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White’s WAR 1850wl Whellan’'s NTH 1849

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
80 Hands (George] Mr Calcut[t] [par. Grandborough] WAR | farmer wh | L
79 Hands Henry Mr Hill [Leamington Hastings] WAR | farmer wh | L
187 Hands Henry [jun.]Mr [Kites] Hardwick WAR | farmer wh | L
89 Hands Thos. jun. Mr Grandborough WAR | farmer wh | L
185 Hands [Wm.] Mr Willoughby WAR | farmer wh | L
1 Hardey [Cash sales 1849; no place] Thos. of Chilvers Coton? S
104 Hardy Thomas Mr [Chilvers Coton] Nuneaton WAR | blue brick & tile maker and builder pw | S
- Harris see Harriss
1 Harriss [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
22 Harriss [Benjamin]Mr Hartshill [nr Atherstone] WAR | Benjamin Harris, bricklayer wh |S
147 Harriss [W,J] Messrs Wyken Colliery [Craven Coll. Wyken] | WAR | W.S, & J. Harris, coal masters. Earl Craven a large Wyken landowner. pw | S
93 Harriss [Wm.] Mr Coten Wharf [Wh'f at Chilvers Coton | WAR | Wm., Harris, brick & tile maker, builder & wharfinger. Wharf on the wh | S
Coventry Canal.
2 Haward [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
55 Hawkes Mr Southam WAR | Only Hawkes entry in White’s 1850: Thomas, a whitesmith (tinplate L
smith), Daventry Rd.
96 Haynes John Mr Napton WAR | farmer wh | L
162 Herbert Mr [not stated] ? L
- Heritage see Herratage
125 Herratage [James] Mr Dunchurch WAR | "tayler" (tailor) o |L
- Hibbert see Hiberts
109 Hiberts [J.H.] Capt. Bilton Grange [par.Bilton nr Rughy] WAR | Capt. John Herbert Washington Hibbert, landowner wh | L
- Hickin see Hicking
180 Hicking [Joseph] Mr Marton WAR | farmer pb | L
27 Hill Mr Wormleighton WAR | notinw., 1851 cen.. L
42 Hinks Henry Mr Mawbonehall [Malvern Hall] Broadwell | WAR | not in w,0, 2; P.0.1845 has Thomas Hincks, farmer. Still pronounced L
Mawhonehall today.
72 Hinks Mathew Mr Kytes [Kites] Hardwick [L. Hastings] WAR | farmer wh | L
175 Hinks Richard Mr Broadwell [par. Leamington Hastings] | WAR | notin w, 0, 2. Entry for Ann Hinks, farmer. L
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.
Column heading abbreviations: P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details
M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.

Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason’s Brentford etc.1853 (' S. London)
ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'Tham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White’s WAR 1850wl Whellan’'s NTH 1849

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
32 Hodgson William Esq | [The Hill] Stockton WAR | landowner, lord of the manor wh | L
26 Holbech William Esq | [Farnborough Hall] Farmborough(sic) | WAR | landowner, lord of the manor wh | L
2 Hopper [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L

- (11) Horley Thomas [loose chit in page 11] Poss. Middle Foss farm, Radford Semele; or Ufton (2 Thos Horleys in pb | L

WAR farmers list)

176 Horn Richard Mr Southam WAR | notinw, o, 2 L
58 Howard [Samuel] Mr | Welton NTH | farmer, brick manufacturer & coal merchant w | L
87 Hudson Thos. Mr Hill [Leamington Hastings] WAR | farmer wh | L
61 Ivens Mr Grandborough WAR | Thomas, farmer, Grandborough Fields, or William, farmer. pw | L
19 Jackson [William] Mr | Shuckborough [Lower Shuckburgh] WAR | grazier & coal dealer wh | S
2 James [Cash sales 1849 (twice); no place] ? L
2 Jessey [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
20 Johns [Thomas] Mr Hatton [hamlet of Shrewley] WAR | farmer wh | S

197 Johnson F.[H.] Mr Wolescote[Woolscott,par.Grandboro] | WAR | Francis Horwood Johnson, farmer wh | L
1 Judge [Cash sales 1849 (twice); no place] ? S

8/124/159 | Kelcey Thos. Dunchurch WAR | carpenter & builder wh | L
33 Kench William Mr Toft [Dunchurch] WAR | farmer & horse dealer wh | L

152 Kenning James Mr Hill [Leamington Hastings] WAR | notinw, 0, 2 L
81 King Mr Southam WAR | Only King entry White 1850: George, land & estate agent, Market Hill L
41 Lawrence [Thos.] Mr | [Biggin Hill] Thurlaston [Dunchrch] WAR | farmer wh | L
91,92 Lee William Mr & Son | 16 Upper Ground St, Blackfriars LND | Lime & Roman cement manufacturers. gr | L

201 Leeson John Mr Braunston NTH | builder [White's 1850: & brick manufacturer] ol |[L
73 Lewis [Thomas] Mr [Calcutt Ho.] Calcut[t][Grandboro'] WAR | farmer wh | L
69 Lickorish John Mr Stockton WAR | notinw, o, 2 L

- Line see Lines

182 Lines [Wm.?] Mr Lawford [Long Lawford or Church L.] | WAR | Prob. Wm Line,farmer.P.0.1845 gave Joseph, Jos.jun.& John Line, wh | L

farmers. No "Lines".

94 Lovel [William] Mr Radford [Semele] Wharf nr WAR | lime burner, Radford "r." (sic) kilns pb | S

Leamington
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Column heading abbreviations:

Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.
P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details
M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.

Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’'s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason'’s Brentford etc.1853 (' S. London)

ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'Tham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White’s WAR 1850wl Whellan's NTH 1849

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
2 Lowe [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
2 Lyde [Lloyd?] [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
2 Lynes [Cash sales 1849; no place] Wm. of Lawford? L
1 Macckesfield Earl of | [Cash sales 1849; no place] Stockton Lias cement used at the Earl of Macclesfield's Ensham Hall S

(AJ. Francis, The Cement Industry 1796-1914, p.88)

34 Marlow[Charlotte]Mrs | Broadwell [Leamington Hastings] WAR | farmer wh | L

188 Marriott [Chas.] Mr Thularston [Thurlaston, Dunchurch] WAR | farmer & assistant overseer wh | L

108 Martin John Mr Dunchurch WAR | carpenter & builder wh | L
38 Martin Wellington Mr | Dunchurch WAR | Not in w,0,2.White's 1850 lists a William Martin, farmer. L

114 Mason [Samuel] Mr Hill [Leamington Hastings] WAR | farmer wh | L
2 Masters [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
65 Mathews [Thomas] Fenny Compton WAR | Thomas Matthews, corn miller, only Mat(t)hews entry 1850 (his wh | L

Mr purchase 1849).

- Matthews see Mathews

37 Maycock [Thomas] Dunchurch WAR | farmer wh | L
Mr

111 Miles [Grosvenor] Mr | Bo[u]rton Ho. [Bourton-on-Dunsmore] | WAR | farmer pb | L

121 Mills Mr Willoughby Bridge WAR | Almost certainly William Mills of the Navigation Inn. wh | S
17 Mills [William] Mr [Navigation Inn] Willoughby WAR | victualler, & coal and lime dealer. wh | S

105 Mitchell Mr Foundry Wharf Leamington WAR | notinw, o, 2. S
5 Mitchell [John] Mr Farmborough [Farnborough] WAR | Railway Contractor [prob. the John Mitchell "surveyor" in P.0.1854.]. | ol |L

Some entries specified “ground lime”.

2 Moore [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L

2 Morris [Cash sales 1849 (twice); no place] ? L
24 Nelson George Mr Emscote [Warwick;& Saw Mills Wharf] | WAR | timber merchant & patent gelatine mfr. Also timber merchant 23 wh | S

Warwick St Leamington Priors.

169 Nelson Sarah Mrs Emscote [Mills nr Warwick] WAR | widow of George; continued his business. gr | S

2 Nevol [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L

2 Nevol [?Neville] Mrs | [Cash sales 1849 (3 times); no place] ? L
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.

Column heading abbreviations:

M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.
Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - ed Edward Dobson - see bibliography. - gr History of Griffin’'s Works - ha Hagar's LEI 1849 -
kl Kelly’s P.O. small dir. LDN 1852 ma Mason’s Brentford etc.1853 ( S. London) ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B’ham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 -
vc Victoria County History - wh White’s WAR 1850 - wl Whellan’'s NTH 1849

P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
43,139 | Oxford Canal Company | Oxford OXF L
200 Parriss [William] Mr Thurlaston [Dunchurch] WAR | carpenter & builder wh | L
9 Pearce & Smith Messrs London LND | contractors. Built the Copenhagen tunnel nr King's Cross in 1849-50 ed | L
167 Pickard Mr Old Lowr Coakes St Coventry WAR | notinw, o, 2 S
103,181 | Pilkington C. Revd. [The Rectory] Stockton WAR | Rev. Charles Pilkington, B.C.L., incumbent & a "principal landowner" wh | L
158 Potter& Co. Messrs Purfleet Wharf,Earl St. Blackfriars LND | George Potter & Co. grey stone & lime merchants kKl | L
23 Potter [Thomas] Stoke Heath [par.of Stoke] Coventry | WAR | brick & tile maker pw | S
2 Prickett [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
165 Priestley [John] Mr [Harnall Place] Coventry WAR | brick & tile maker wh | S
45 Rawbone William Mr Stockton WAR | shoemaker wh | L
2 Reading [Cash sales 1849; no place] John, farmer? L
68 Reading John Mr Priors Hardwick WAR | farmer wh | L
97 Redhead Mr Napton WAR | White's 1850 has Wm Readhead, beerhouse, & wheelwright & grocer. L
71,199 | Reynolds William Mr [Warwick St.] Southam WAR | carpenter [& builder, White's 1850] ol |L
173 Richardson Chas. Mr 6 South Wharf, Paddington LND | brick, cement & lime mcht; sole agent for Greaves’ blue lias lime & cement | kI | L
2 Rimell [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
142 Ringrose [Wm.] Mr Wolescote [Woolscott, par. WAR | farmer. White's 1850 gives him as Wringrose. wh | L
Grandborough]
18,146 | Roadknight Wm. Mr [Coleshill St] Atherstone WAR | |ime mcht.In P.0.1845:coal,lime, salt mcht & wharfinger, gas co. wharf | pb | S
15, 99,| Roberts George Mr New Inn Bridge [Lit.Heath]Foleshill WAR | wharfinger & dealer in coal,lime,cement,whiting,Staffs blue wh | S
163 tiles, bricks, etc.
190 Sanders M[ary] Mrs Stockton WAR | heer retailer [poss.wife of Thos.,farmer & beer retailer in P.0.1845] pb | S
164 Sands William Mr Coten Wharf[Chilvers Coton Nuneatn] | WAR | White 1850 gives a Wm.Sands,carpenter, of Chilvers Coton. S
100 etc | Scott John, Lord [Cawston Lodge] Causton [Cawston] | WAR | landowner, "occasionally " residing at Cawston. Also pp.150,172 wh | L
84 Sharman John Mr Stockton WAR | tailor wh | L
186 Sheppard [Henry] Mr Napton WAR | farmer pb | L
101 Shuckburgh C.B. Revd. Borton [Bourton-on-Dunsmore] WAR | Rev. Blincow Shuckburgh, landowner. wh | L
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.

Column heading abbreviations:

M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.

Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’'s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason'’s Brentford etc.1853 (' S. London)
ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'Tham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White’s WAR 1850wl Whellan's NTH 1849

P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
62, 149 | Sitwell [H.W.] Revd. [The Vicarage] Leamington Hastings | WAR | Rev Henry Wilmot Sitwell, incumbent. wh | L
126 Slater Mr [not stated] builder o |L
193 Smith Mr & Co. Heyford nr Weedon NTH | Whellan 1849:John Smith, carpenter, Nether Heyford. w | L
[was this Smith & Co. by the time of the1854 purchase?]
6-7, 153,| Spencer Earl Wormleighton WAR | landowner wh | L
194
198 Spencer Messrs Flecknoe [Fields, par.Wolfhamcote] WAR | farmers wh | L
2 Spraggot [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
183 Sprawson [John] Mr Marton WAR | timber merchant wh | L
155 Sturley Thos. Mr [Banbury Rd.] Southam WAR | rick & draining pipe maker wh | L
189 Surveyors Napton Napton WAR | Surveyors of the Parish of Napton S
113 Surveyors Stockton Stockton WAR | Surveyors of the Parish of Stockton L
40 Sutton John Bliss Mr Thurlaston [Dunchurch] WAR | farmer wh | L
75 Sutton Wm. Lucas Esq [Manor House] Grandborough WAR | landowner wh | L
151 Taft Henry Mr (see Wm.) [Coventry St.] Southam WAR | huilder ol |L
64 Taft James Mr [Banbury Rd.] Southam WAR | builder wh | L
63 Taft William & Henry Southam WAR | Henry prob.=Henry of Coventry St, in building partnership in thiscase. | wh | L
78 Taylor [Robert A] Woscote [Woolscott, par. WAR | Robert Alexander Taylor, farmer wh | L
Grandborough]
2 Tessey [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
14,145 | Thomas William Mr [Mount Pleasant] Bedworth WAR | coal & ironstone master, limeburner & farmer wh | S
195 Timms Richard Mr Braunston NTH | Whellan 1849 Joseph Timms, farmer. Kelly 1848: & coal wharf; Slater L
1850 & hoat builder
48 Timms [William] Mr Grandborough WAR | farmer wh | L
1 Tranter [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
148 Truelove Benjamin Mr Cop Heath Wharf Knowle WAR | w: Benjamin Truelove, farmer, Balsall St, Temple Balsall, par. Hampton- | wh | S
[parish of Hampton--in-Arden] in-Arden
- Truslove see Truslow
133 Truslow Wm Mr Leamington Hasting[s] WAR | Wm Truslove, farmer wh | L
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime and Cement Works customers recorded in 1849-54 sales ledger.

Bracketed items are additions taken from contemporary directories, or provide standard spellings and geographical locations of places noted.
Column heading abbreviations: P=original page no.(s) in ledger Sc=source of information on occupations, and additional name/address details
M=material purchased: C cement L (ground or lump?*) lime S (lime)stone. * Only customer John Mitchell’s entries specify which.

Source codes (directory unless stated): cn census record - gr History of Griffin’'s Works - ha Hagar’'s LEI 1849 - ma Mason'’s Brentford etc.1853 (' S. London)
ol orig. ledger - pb P.O. B'ham/WAR/WOR/STS 1854 - pw P.O. WAR 1845 - vc Victoria County History - wh White's WAR 1850wl Whellan’s NTH 1849

P Customer Address Cty Occupation (for source see next column) Sc | M
144 Wady William Mr Warmington WAR | farmer wh | L
2 Waggoner [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
117 Wak[e]lin Mr Flecknoe [par. Wolfhamcote] WAR | builder [notin w, 0, 2] o |L
138 Walker William Mr Broadwell [par.Leamington Hastings] | WAR | farmer wh | L
1 Wallington [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
120 Ward Nicholas Mr Hinckley Wharf [nr. Hinckley] LEI brick & tile mfr, dealer in coal & slate, lime burner, & farmer. ha |S
46 Warner Mr "Plot" [Stockton Fields?] WAR | notinw, 0, 2 L
85 Warner William Mr Stockton WAR | notinw, 0, 2 L
179 Warner William Mr Napton WAR | grazier wh | L
12, 98 Warwick Canal Co. Canal Office, Warwick WAR L
2(3X) Watson [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
31 Watson Mr Napton WAR | carpenter [w:& builder & architect].Recheck for 1st name. o |L
90 Watson James Mr [Hardwick Ho.] Kytes [Kites] H'dw'k WAR | farmer wh | L
51 Watson S. Mr [Woodhine] Cottage, Grandborough WAR | farmer. Initial only given in directory. wh | L
160 White Mr Borton [Bourton-on-Dunsmore] WAR | notinw,0,2 L
130 Whitehead James Mr [Warwick Rd.] Southam WAR | stone mason wh | L
119 Wilkins [Thomas] Mr Lighthorne WAR | builder ol L
76 Wise [Wm. John] Rev. [The Vicarage] Grandborough WAR | incumbent wh | L
1(3x) Worster [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? S
2 Wosicthe (?) [Cash sales 1849; no place] ? L
- Wringrose see Ringrose
11 Yeomans Mr Joseph London LND | ? L
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Weight and Value of Limestone, Lump Lime, Ground Lime and Cement sold, 1849-1854

1 hundredweight (1 cwt) = 112 Ibs = 50.8 kgs. 20 cwt = ton).

Weight of Limestone sold
Unit: Imperial ton, hundredweight (cwt.). 1 ton = 2240 Ibs (pounds) = 1,016 kgs

Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total

Ball Mrs | 303 10 317 312 332 362 | 21310 | 184000

Bayes Wm. Mr 04 16 2000
Beasley 27 00 27 00

Bloore Mr 52 00 52 00

Bucknell Revd 10 05 10 05
Checketts & Buffery 20 20 00
Clarke Mr 21 26 10 47 10

Clarrage 20 20 00

Cooke George Mr 91 91 00
Daffern 48 48 00

Dugdail 20 20 00

Dunsford 5110 5110

Eadon Chas.senr. 35 3500
Finch Wm. Mr 02 200
Hambage 26 26 00

Hardey 23 23 00

Hardy Thomas Mr 72 10 49 67 188 10
Harriss (cash) 24 24 00
Harriss (Benjamn] 24 22 10 (also an entry for 1848 of 24 tons) 46 10
Harriss (William] --- 63 --- --- --- --- 63 00
Harriss (W,J]Messrs ---| 14805 148 05
Howard Mr 15 28 2110 20 84 10
Jackson [William] Mr | 111 10 102 4510 86 41 47 433 00
Johns Mr 27 27 00

Johnson F. Mr --- --- --- --- --- 10 10 00
Judge 43 43 00

Lovel Mr 24 24 00
Macckesfield Earl 02 200
Mills Mr ref.112 --- --- 24 25 --- --- 49 00
Mills [Wm] Mr 23 25 48 00
Mitchell Mr 19 27| 20510 106 357 10

Nelson George Mr 24 ---| 31610 340 10
Nelson Sarah Mrs ---| 23710 | 32610 564 00
Pickard Mr 29 29 00

Potter [Thomas] 7310 140 52 3010 | 10210 103 501 10
Priestley Mr 79 10 79 10
Roadknight Willm | 189 10 178 | 11810 | 17910 | 24210 184 | 1092 00
Roberts George Mr | 34510 | 607 10 376 | 12010 | 58410 | 44310 | 247710
Sanders M. Mrs 08 10 810
Sands William Mr ---| 15610 72 228 10
Surveyors Napton 28 28 00
Thomas William Mr 261 | 12910 407 | 43510 | 10710 84| 142410
Timms [Willm] Mr --- 09 04 --- 1300
Tranter 40 40 00

Tru[e]love Benjam 149 2510 174 10
Wallington 25 2500

Ward Nicholas Mr 48 48 00
Worster 75 75 00

Total Wt tns., cwts) | 1896 00 | 1679 00 | 1816 15 | 1757 05 | 2284 10 | 1621 00 | 11054:10

55




Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Value of Limestone sold

Unit: pre-decimal pounds, shillings, pence (£sd).
£1 = 20 shillings (20s) = 20 x 5p = 240 old pence (240d) = 20 x 12d. 1d = 0.42p

Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total
Ball Mrs 29000| 32000| 28180 32196(231710%2| 3408 7% 18140
Bayes Wm. Mr 80| 1120 2000
Beasley 2140 2140
Bloore Mr 5040 5040
Bucknell Revd ---| 1006 1006
Checketts Buffery 2000 2000
Clarke Mr --| 2197Y 2020 5017}
Clarrage 2000 2000
Cooke George Mr --- --- --- --- 9020 9020
Daffern 4160 4160
Dugdail 2000 2000
Dunsford 5030 5030
Eadon Chas.senr. 3100 3100
Finch Wm. Mr 60 60
Hambage 2120 2120
Hardey 2060 2060
Hardy Thomas Mr ---| 7050| 4180 7109 19139
Harriss (cash) 2080 2080
Harriss (Benjamn] 2080| 2050 4130
Harriss (William] -] 6060 6060
Harriss (W,J]Msrs 2204 3 2204 3
Howard Mr -] 1100 2123 2050 2030 8103
Jackson Mr 11030| 10040| 4110| 7154% 5059 4020 430111
Johns Mr 2140 2140
Johnson F. Mr 1026 1026
Judge 4060 4060
Lovel Mr --| 2080 2080
Macckesfield Earl 40 40
Mills Mr ref.112 --| 2080 2100 4180
Mills [Wm] Mr 2060 2100 4160
Mitchell Mr rf114 ---| 1180| 2140| 19134% 10120 3417415
Nelson George Mr 2080 ---| 32057 34137
Nelson Sarah Mrs ---134 0710%2 23150 58 02 10}~
Pickard Mr 2180 2180
Potter 7070 14000, 5040 3010] 11119 10050 51089
Priestley Mr 7190 7190
Roadknight Willm 18190| 17160| 18130 16173| 20140 24050 11704 3
Roberts George Mr| 34110| 60150 37120 1201049 1710% 58090 253510}~
Sanders M. Mrs 170 170
Sands William Mr 8020 15130 23150
Surveyors Napton 2160 2160
Thomas William Mr| 2907 3| 12190| 40140 43110 9090 10150 146 153
Timms [Willm] Mr 180 80 160
Tranter 4000 400
Tru[e]love Benjam -—-| 1313 4% 2110 164 44
Wallington 2100 2100
Ward Nicholas Mr --| 4160 4160
Worster 7100 7100
Total Value (£.5.d)|191 12 316804 0/186 161|178 13 4%| 177 040|226 13 7%2|£1,129 3s 3d
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Weight of Lump Lime sold
Original weights in quarters/bushels (5601lbs/56lbs); here in tons/cwt/bushels.

Customer 1849 | 1850 | 1851 | 1852 | 1853 | 1854 | Total
"Pd for" 0001 ---/00010
Abbots 00 01 ---100010
Alsop John Mr 00 16 ---1 0300|0208 | 06040
Alsop Thomas Mr --- 10304 ---10114/04180

Barnes Wm Mr --- |1 00 16 ---100160
Barnwell (Wm.Mason] 01 02 03 01 07 10124000
Barnwell William Mr 02 ---102000
Bayes 0001 ---100010

Bayes Wm. Mr 04109120816 |0508|0112|0016|30040
Bayliss Wm. Mr 281291557150
Beasley Joseph Mr 3302 | 29 04 05 --- | 67060
Beasley William Mr 061516 16020
Beck E[dward] Mr --- | 7708 | 77080
Beck Joseph Mr 0104 --- 1 0016 | 00 10 01 ---103100

Beck William Mr | 03 10 01 --- | 02 04 --- 10212 --- 108061
Bicknell C. 00 04 ---100040

Bicknell Chas. Mr 0014 | 01 02 --- --- 10012 02104080
Biggs 00 01 --- 100001

Black Robert Mr --- 1 0104 ---101040

Blick William Mr 08 16 | 03 08 --- 127080
Bolten 0012 ---100120

Bromfield H. Revd --- ---1 0012 | 0518 --- ---106100
Bromfield [H.J.] Mr --- | 02 04 010208 |05120
Brunde [Blundell?] 00 08 ---1 00080
Brundle Richard Mr 01 01]/0104|03040
Bulling [Thos.Wm] Mr --- 10218 --102180
Burden John Mr 02 ---102000
Chamberlayne H.T(?) --- 1 0308 --- 103080
Chambers (Thomas] Mr 00 16 ---10812(1210|21180
Chambers William Mr --- 1 02 08 ---102080
Chambers Wm. 01 ---101000
Church Richard Mr 00 04 --- 10012 --- ---100160
Churchwardens Leam.Hastings --- 10008 | 04 04 ---104120
Churchwardens Stockton ---10112 ---101120
Cleaver Samuel Mr 00 06 ---100060

Coles & Shadbolt --- 12810 --128100
Coles [Wm.] Mr 0004

---100040

Congreve [Thos.] Mr 0004 | 0208|0004 | 0016|0014 --- 104060
Cooke George Mr 01]1202]0508|18100
Cornborough [John]Mr --- | 00 08 --- 100080
Crofts Thomas Mr 02 --102000
Curtis 00 08 --- 100080

Curtis [Mary] Mrs 02 ---102000
Curtis [Wm.] Mr 08 | 1416 04 ---126160
Douglas 0012 ---100120

Douglas [Thos.] Mr 1212 | 08 16 16 14 14 12 77080

Eadon Chas.junr. Mr ---10114|10410 --106040
Eadon Chas.senr. Mr 00 06 01 ---101060
Elkington [James?]Mr 00 10 --100100

Fabling [Thos.] Mr 06 04 04 --- --- ---114000
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Weight of Lump Lime sold
Original weights in quarters/bushels (560Ibs/561bs); here in tons/cwt/bushels.

Customer 1849 | 1850 | 1851 | 1852 1853 1854 | Total
Fessey [John]Mr | 03 16 02 --105160
FinchWm.Mr| 0302|0012 |00 14 --- 104080
Freen Thos Mr & Co. 57 05 --- 157050
French (?) 01 ---101000
Garner John Mr 53 05 40 --- --- --193050
Garner John Mr 02 ---102000
Garner [George] Mr 00 16 ---100160
Gibbins Edmund Mr | 00 08 --- 100080
Gilbert Mrs 01 ---101000
Goode John Mr | 0312 0208 | 06 00 0
Goode [Wm.JMr | 0114 0102140
Goodman 02 ---102000
Grant Mr --- 10108 ---101080
Griffin Edmund 18 08 --- 118080
Griffin George Mr 02 --- --- 00 10 ---102100
Griffin James Mr 12 02 ---114000
Hall Thos. 00 08 --- 100080
Hall Thos. Mr 01 ---| 00081 ---101081
Hands (George]Mr| 0008 | 0012 | 00 16 | 02 08 --104040
Hands Henry Mr | 00 16 03 04 0206000
Hands Henry [jun.]Mr 00 16 031604120
Hands Thomas jun. Mr 03 16 ---103160
Hands [Wm.] Mr 0112 --101120
Haward 02 ---102000
Hawkes Mr | 00 06 --- 100060
Haynes John Mr --- 10112 ---101120
Herbert Mr 16 16 1508 32040
Herratage [James] Mr 04 00 14 --104140
Hiberts [J.H.] Capt. --- 10016 ---100160
Hicking [Joseph] Mr 00 16 ---100160
HillMr | 07 04 --- 107040
Hinks Henry Mr 02 02 01 0008 | 04090
Hinks Mathew Mr 06 --- 06 --- ---112000
Hinks Richard Mr --- --- --- --- 03 06 --- 103060
Hodgson William Esq 2516 --125160
Holbech William Esq 0308 | 0204 02 02 08 1020000
Hopper | 0001 ---100010
Horley Thomas --- | loose | chit-| year | unknown 001400140
Horn Richard Mr 02 ---102000
Howard [Samuel] Mr | 08 12 02 04 08122120
Hudson Thos. Mr 01 ---101000
Ivens Mr | 04 04 ---104040
Jackson [William] Mr --- 1 0004 --- 00 16 ---101000
James | 0104 --101040
Jessey | 0000 1 ---100001
Johnson F.[H.] Mr 0712 |07120
Kelcey Thos. 3606 | 0414|3810 | 6712 49 04 | 02nxtBk | 198 06
Kench William Mr 5204 --- --- --- 060858120
Kenning James Mr --- | 08 08 ---108080
KingMr | 0012 ---100120
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Weight of Lump Lime sold
Original weights in quarters/bushels (560lbs/56lbs); here in tons/cwt/bushels.
Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 | Total

Lawrence [Thos.]Mr | 2012 | 1312 | 0112| 0214 --1 38100
Lee William Mr & Son --- | 81515 442 --- | 1257 15
Leeson John Mr 06| 06000
Lewis [Thomas] Mr| 0308 | 00 16 ---1 04040
Lickorish John Mr | 00 08 ---|1 00080
Lines [Wm.?] Mr --| 0216 --1 02160
Lowe | 0001 ---1 00010

Lyde [Lloyd?] | 00 08 ---|1 00080

Lynes | 0002 ---1 00020
Marlow[Charlotte]Mrs 08 04| 0416 | 16160
Marriott [Chas.] Mr 01| 0010| 01100
Martin John Mr ---| 0104 ---101040
Martin Wellington Mr | 09 04 ---1 09040
Mason [Samuel] Mr 01 02 ---1 03000
Masters | 00 16 ---1 00160

Mathews [Thomas]Mr | 01 12 ---1 01120
Maycock [Thomas] Mr | 04 12 -1 04120
Miles [Grosvenor] Mr ---| 0104 01 04 ---1 02080
Mitchell [John] Mr | 2112 | 1812 | 1016 12 04 --- ---|1 63040
Moore | 0002 ---1 00020

Morris | 01 12 --1 01120

Nelson George Mr ---| 0316| 12318 --| 127 14
Nevol | 0012 ---1 00120

Nevol [?Neville] Mrs | 05 18 05180

Oxford Canal Company | 5302 | 7106 | 6512 74 16 111 | 4116 | 41712

Parriss [William] Mr 07| 07000
Pearce & Smith Messrs | 487 10 287 --| 77410
Pilkington C. Revd. --- 02 --- 00 16 ---1 02160
Potter & Co. Messrs 29 ---1 29000
Prickett | 02 12 --1 02120

Rawbone William Mr 01| 0016 | 0012 ---1 02080
Reading | 00 10 ---1 00100

Reading John Mr | 01 16 --- 04 --- 04 18 02| 12140
Redhead Mr --| 0112] 0310 --1 05020
Reynolds William Mr | 0216 | 1408 ---| 0016| 2918| 0804 | 56020
Richardson Chas. Mr 2810 | 27910 | 30800
Rimell | 00 12 ---1 00120

Ringrose [Wm.] Mr --- --- 0116 --- ---1 01160
Roadknight Wm. Mr 04 18 18| 2506 12| 77060
Sanders M[ary] Mrs 01 ---1 01000
Scott John, Lord --| 1208 | 2016 38 08 1912 13| 10404
Sharman John Mr | 01 16 03] 04160
Sheppard [Henry] Mr -—-101121 --101121
Shuckburgh C.B. Revd ---| 0508 --| 0112] 0012 | 07120
Sitwell[HW.]Revd. | 1914 | 0104 | 071418111 --| 0208] 49111
Slater Mr ---| 0812 ---1 08120

Smith Mr & Co. --—-| 5615| 56150
Spencer Earl | 4716 | 3810 | 2212 2516 | 2212 | 2902 | 18608
Spencer Messrs ---| 5015| 50150
Spraggot | 0001 ---1 00010
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Weight of Lump Lime sold
Original weights in quarters/bushels (560lbs/56lIbs); here in tons/cwt/bushels.

Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 | 1853 | 1854 | Total
Sprawson [John] Mr -—-| 060804160912 20160
Sturley Thos. Mr - 0112 ---101120
Surveyors Stock. Par ---| 0110 ---101100
Sutton John Bliss Mr 16 16 02 ---118160
Sutton Wm. Lucas Esq 0216 | 0304| 0012| 0012|0208 | 0208 |12000
Taft Henry Mr ---| 1914 | 07 10 --- 127040
Taft James Mr 0912 | 0208 ---112000
Taft William & Henry 0604 | 0416 | 0314 -—-10212 17060
Taylor [Robert A.] 0012 --- --- --- --- --100120
Tessey 00 16 --- 100160
Timms Richard Mr ---10416|04160
Timms [William] Mr 14 08| 0016| 0608 | 0314|1404 47020
Truslow Wm Mr 01 ---101000
Wady William Mr --- ---| 0204 --- ---102040
Waggoner 00 04 ---100040
Wak]e]lin Mr 02 ---102000
Walker William Mr 02 -—-102000
Warner Mr 00 16 ---|] 0012 --- | 02 08 02105160
Warner William Mr 0012 --- 01| 0008 --- ---102000
Warner William Mr ---10104 ---101040
Warw'k Canal Company 1604 | 1712 | 0404 ---138000
Watson | 01001 ---101001
Watson Mr 04 16 03 --- 10118 ---109140
Watson James Mr 01 ---| 0004 ---10212|03160
Watson S. Mr 0112 ---| 0104| 0008|0018 |0812|12140
White Mr 60 --- 160000
Whitehead James Mr ---| 0012 --- 1 0016 ---101080
Wilkins [Thomas] Mr -—-| 2514 | 1116 --- -- 137100
Wise [Wm. John] Revd 02 08 --- | 0012 --- 103000
Wosicthe (?) 01 ---101000
Yeomans Mr Joseph 27 ---127000
Total Weights in Tons/Cwt | 1192 18 | 14949 | 862 10 | 43217 | 5497 | 7975 | 5,329 6
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Value of Lump Lime sold
Unit: pre-decimal pounds, shillings, pence (£sd).
£1 = 20 shillings (20s) = 20 x 5p = 240 old pence (240d) = 20 x 12d. 1d = 0.42p

Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total
“Pd Cash” 10 10
Abbots 10 10
Alsop John Mr 90 1100 1040 330
Alsop Thomas Mr -] 2000 170 2170
Barnes Wm Mr 80 80
Barnwell (WmMason 113 1000| 1100 100 3100 5000 1213
Barnwell William 1000 100
Bayes 30 30
Bayes Wm. Mr 2050 4160| 4080 | 2140 16 0 80 1570
Bayliss Wm. Mr -1 16020 | 17170 33190
Beasley Joseph Mr | 26 08 4% | 18040 | 3050 - | 47 17 4%
Beasley William M 4100 | 11170 1670
Beck E. Mr -—-| 45169 45169
Beck Joseph Mr 16 6 80 63 120 229
Beck William Mr | 1 19 10%2 120 1060 47 10Y%
Bicknell C. 23 23
Bicknell Chas. Mr 710% 136 76 1100 21810%
Biggs 6 6
Black Robert Mr 120 120
Blick William Mr 5000 -—-| 9068 1140 1608
Bolten 69 69
Bromfield H. Revd 60| 2130 2190
Bromfield [H.J.] - | 1020 100 1040 216 0
Brunde[=Blundell: 46 46
Brundle Richard M 100 100 120 1120
Bulling Mr -—-| 1090 190
Burden John Mr 1026 126
Chamberlayne H.T( -] 1140 1140
Chambers (Thos] 90 4060 6050 1100
Chambers William 1160 116 0
Chambers Wm 113 113
Church Richard Mr 30 70 100
Churchwardens Lea 40| 2020 260
Churchwardens Sto ---|1 1000 100
Cleaver Samuel Mr 46 46
Coles (Willm] Mr 23 23
Coles & Shadbolt ---| 12166 1216 6
Congreve Mr 23 1040 20 80 70 233
Cooke George Mr 100 | 15050 8090 2440
Cornborough Mr 40 40
Crofts Thomas Mr 1000 100
Curtis 46 46
Curtis [Mary] Mrs 1000 100
Curtis [Wm] Mr 4050 7080| 2000 13130
Douglas 69 69
Douglas [Thos] Mr 7019 4080| 8000 | 7000 7000 6000 3999
Eadon Chas.junr. 170| 2050 320
Eadon Chas.senr. 3 4% 100 13 4%
Elkington Mr 76 76
Fabling Mr 3076 2000| 2000 776
Fessey Mr 1183 ---| 1000 218 3
FinchWm. Mr | 202 7% 76 80 218 1%
Freen Thos Mr Co. 28126 28126
French (?) 150 150
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Value of Lump Lime sold
Unit: pre-decimal pounds, shillings, pence (£sd).
£1 = 20 shillings (20s) = 20 x 5p = 240 old pence (240d) = 20 x 12d. 1d = 0.42p

Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total
Garner [Geo] Mr 90 90
Garner John 26020 | 22100 100 49120
Gibbins Edmund Mr 46 46
Gilbert Mrs 100 100
Goode John Mr 2006 1040 346
Goode [Wm] Mr 191 100 191
Goodman 1026 126
Grant Mr 140 140
Griffin Edmund 14070 1470
Griffin George Mr 1090 50 1140
Griffin James Mr 9150 1000 10150
Hall Thos. ref62 113 46 159
Hall Thos.(cash) 46 46
Hands (Geo] Mr 46 60 10 1040 1156
Hands Henry Mr 90 1120 1000 310
Hands Henry [jun] 80 1180 260
Hands Thomas jun. 2029 229
Hands [Wm] Mr 160 160
Haward 1026 126
Hawkes Mr 3 4% 3 4%
Haynes John Mr 160 160
Herbert Mr 8080 7140 1620
Herratage [?Herit 2000 70 270
Hiberts Capt. 80 80
Hicking Mr 80 80
Hill Mr 4010 410
Hinks Henry Mr 1026 1010 40 276
Hinks Mathew Mr 3076 3000 676
Hinks Richard Mr 1130 1130
Hodgson William E 14153 14153
Holbech William E 1183 1020 1000 1040 5000 1043
Hopper 10 10
Horley Thomas loose chit.Yr/ value? | Estimatd | 2s3d gr 710% 710%%
Horn Richard Mr 1000 100
Howard Mr 4169 1000 2000 4000 11169
Hudson Thos. Mr 113 113
Ivens Mr 2073 273
Jackson Mr 20 80 100
James 173 173
Jessey 6 6
Johnson F. Mr 3160 3160
Kelcey Thos | 20 09 4% 2150 | 24050 | 35040 | 25196 | cel+nxtBk | 109 12 10%
Kench William Mr 35133 4080 4013
Kenning James Mr 4040 440
King Mr 90 90
Laurence Mr 1006 0 6160 160 1070 1950
Lee William Mr So --- | 364150 | 176160 541110
Leeson John Mr 3000 300
Lewis Mr 1116 80 1196
Lickorish John Mr 60 60
Lines Mr 1080 180
Lowe 10 10
Lyde [Lloyd?] 46 46
Lynes 20 20




Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

£1 = 20 shillings (20s) = 20 x 5p = 240 old pence (240d) = 20 x 12d. 1d = 0.42p

Value of Lump Lime sold

Unit: pre-decimal pounds, shillings, pence (£sd).

Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total
Marlow Mrs 4100 2000 2080 818 0
Marriott Mr 100 50 150
Martin John Mr 120 120
Martin Wellington 7096 796
Mason Mr 100 1000 1100
Masters 90 90
Mathews Mr 180 180
Maycock Mr 2119 2119
Miles Mr 120 120 140
Mitchell (John] 1016 0 8060 5080 6020 3486
Moore 20 20
Morris 180 180
Nelson George Mr 1180 | 61190 63170
Nevol 69 69
Nevol?Neville]Mrs 3 06 4% 36 4%
Oxford Canal Comp 29179 35130 | 32160 | 37080 | 55100 | 20180 21269
Parriss Mr 3100 3100
Pearce Smith Mess | 351 06 4% | 243 08 3 --- | 594 14 7>
Pilkington C. Rev 1000 106 1106
Potter Co. Messrs ---1 13010 1310
Prickett 1093 193
Rawbone William M 139 100 76 1113
Reading 57% 57
Reading John Mr 1000 2000 3010 1000 710
Redhead Mr 16 0 1150 2110
Reynolds William 1116 7040 80| 14110 4020 27 16 6
Richardson Chas. ---| 14050 | 128196 143 4 6
Rimell 69 69
Ringrose Mr 180 180
Roadknight Willm 2050 9000 9000 | 12130 6000 44180
Sanders M. Mrs 100 100
Scott John, Lord 6146 | 10080 | 19040 9160 6100 52126
Sharman John Mr 1049 1183 330
Sheppard Mr 16 6 16 6
Shuckburgh C.B. R 2140 160 60 3160
Sitwell Revd. | 1201 1% 120 3170| 10070 1040 281 1%
Slater Mr 4060 460
Smith Mr Co. -—-| 39146 39146
Spencer Earl 25179 19050 | 10160 | 13080 | 11060 | 14110 9539
Spencer Messrs ---|1 30090 3090
Spraggot 10 10
Sprawson Mr 3040 2080 4160 1080
Sturley Thos. Mr 16 0 16 0
Surveyors Stock. 189 189
Sutton John Bliss 9090 1000 1090
Sutton Wm. Lucas 1116 1120 60 60 1040 1040 636
Taft Henry[=WmHn? 9170 3150 13120
Taft James Mr 4160 1040 600
Taft William Henr 3020 2080 1170 1060 8130
Taylor 69 69
Tessey 90 90
Timms Richard Mr 2080 280
Timms [Willm] Mr 7000 4000 80 3040 1170 9070 25160
Truslow Wm Mr 100 100




Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Weight and value of materials sold as recorded in 1849-1854 ledger.

Value of Lump Lime sold
Unit: pre-decimal pounds, shillings, pence (£sd).
£1 = 20 shillings (20s) = 20 x 5p = 240 old pence (240d) = 20 x 12d. 1d = 0.42p

Customer 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total
Wady William Mr 1020 120
Waggoner 23 23
Wak[e]lin Mr 1100 1100
Walker William Mr 1000 100
Warner Mr refl63 90 60 1040 1000 2190
Warner Wm ref164 69 100 40 109
Warner Wm ref165 120 120
Warw'k Canal Comp 909 3 8160 2020 207 3
Watson (cash] 119 119
Watson James Mr 113 20 1060 1193
Watson Mr ref 168 2140 1100 190 530
Watson S. Mr 180 120 40 90 4060 690
White Mr ---| 33150 33150
Whitehead James M 60 80 140
Wilkins Mr --| 15143 7126 2369
Wise Revd. 1070 60 1130
Wosicthe (?) 113 113
Yeomans Mr Joseph 35020 3520
Total values £s.d. | 778138% | 812126 | 396119 | 224105 | 292000 | 4289 10% | 293118 3

Weight and Value of Ground Lime sold ( only to Mr Mitchell of Farnborough, Warks)

1849 | 1850 1851 1852 | 1853 | 1854 Total
Weight --- | 40 sacks x 3 bushels 94 bushels 214 bushels
(in tons) 3tons | 2tons 11 cwt --- | (5tons 11 cwt)
Value £4 10s 0d £3 16s 6d £8 6s 6d

Weight of Cement sold

Unit: Imperial ton, hundredweight (cwt.). 1 ton = 2240 Ibs (pounds) = 1,016 kgs
1 hundredweight (1 cwt) = 112 Ibs = 50.8 kgs. 20 cwt = ton).

Customer | 1849 | 1850 | 1851 1852 1853 1854 | Total
Ashby William & Son --- 1 34803 | 204 12 | 655 11 | 1208 06
Nelson Mrs Sarah -] 2613 26 13
Total Weights in Tons/Cwt --- 34803 | 20412 | 68204 | 1234 19

Value of Cement sold
Unit: pre-decimal pounds, shillings, pence (£sd).

£1 = 20 shillings (20s) = 20 x 5p = 240 old pence (240d) = 20 x 12d. 1d = 0.42p

Customer | 1849 | 1850 | 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total

Ashby William & Son ---1420150[241089 | 8401809 | 15030206

Nelson Mrs Sarah -- ---| 210609 2106 09

Total Total values £s.d --- 1420150 ] 241089 | 862 0506 | £1,524 09 03

Gross Company Revenue as recorded in the ledger
Material 1849 1850 1851 1852 1853 1854 Total

Limestone| 1911203 |168 04 00/186 16 01|178 13 04%2| 226 13 7%| 177 04 00 1129 03 04
Lump Lime| 778128%| 8121206| 39908 03224 10 05...| 292 000...| 4289 10% 29351308
Ground Lime - ---| 41000] 31606... --- 8 06 06
Cement ---1420 15 00...| 241 089...| 862 05 06 1524 09 03
Total £5s.d[970.04 11%2|980 16 06590 14 04827 15 03%2| 760 02 04Y2|1467 19 04 |£5,597 11s 10d
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Contemporary survey of the quarry (GR Piece 73)

1)
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Griffin’s Blue Lias Lime & Cement Works. Survey of the quarry.
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